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I am pleased to introduce the 2011-12 Annual 
Report and Accounts, which demonstrates 
another year of substantial activity and 
achievement by Accountant in Bankruptcy (AiB).

We have also begun a 
consultation on developing a 
“Financial Health Service” for 
Scotland, which will be fit for 
the 21st century. We are keen 
to ensure that Scotland leads 
the way in the development 
of a modern service which 
responds effectively to meet 
the rights and needs of 
debtors and creditors.

Despite the financial 
pressures facing all of us 
in the public sector, this 
has been another busy and 
successful year for AiB, 
thanks to the dedication and 
work of our staff, Board and 
stakeholders. I hope this 
Annual Report and Accounts 
give you a good overview of all 
the excellent work being done 

at AiB and provides sufficient 
detailed information of how 
we have performed against 
the targets and objectives that 
we set.

Rosemary Winter-Scott
The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
and Agency Chief Executive

1 August 2012 

Foreword by The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy and Agency Chief 
Executive

The economic situation has 
meant that there has been 
continued demand for fair 
and just processes of debt 
advice, debt relief and debt 
management delivered by 
AiB and other stakeholder 
organisations. The revised 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS) is a prime example of 
our commitment to review 
and develop policy to ensure 
our products continue to meet 
the needs of stakeholders 
and the people of Scotland. 
The statistics contained in 
this Annual Report illustrate 
that the DAS revisions have 
been a great success with a 
significant rise in the number 
of people opting to use DAS as 
a debt management solution. 
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Who we are
Accountant in Bankruptcy (AiB) is an Executive Agency 
of the Scottish Government under the terms of the 
Scotland Act 1998. The Agency operates independently 
and impartially while remaining directly accountable to 
Scottish Ministers. The Accountant in Bankruptcy (The 
Accountant) is an Independent Statutory Officer and 
an officer of the court appointed under section 1 of the 
Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985, as amended.

Management commentary
Our role and purpose

We have begun a  
consultation on developing a 
‘Financial Health Service’ for 
Scotland, which will be fit for  

the 21st century.
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History of AiB
The history of bankruptcy is 
enshrined in legislation and 
the administration of it has 
been closely associated with 
the courts. The Bankruptcy 
Act 1621 is the earliest 
recorded statute dealing with 
bankruptcy. Legislation has 
developed slowly, with further 
enactments to the process 
of sequestration in 1696, 
1772, 1783, 1856 and 1913, 
reflecting social and economic 
factors over the years.

The Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 
1985 (the 1985 Act) introduced 
public funding to underwrite 
the process where there 
were insufficient funds, or 
realisable assets, in a debtor’s 
estate to cover the costs of 
sequestration. Legislation 
in 1993 provided that The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy, 
could be appointed as trustee, 
and in course of these duties, 
could use her own staff, or 
appoint agents, to act on her 
behalf. 

Accountant in Bankruptcy 
(the Agency) was established 

as an Executive Agency on 
2 April 2002. The framework 
within which the Agency 
operates is set out in the 
Agency Framework Document 
(available on http://www.aib.
gov.uk which includes the 
financial delegations. The 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
(The Accountant) is also the 
Agency’s Chief Executive 
appointed by Scottish 
Ministers. 

Under the Debt Arrangement 
and Attachment (Scotland) 
Act 2002, Scottish Ministers 
delegated function to The 
Accountant to act as the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
Administrator. The Debt 
Arrangement Scheme (DAS) 
became operational on  
30 November 2004. Changes 
to DAS came into effect on 
30 June 2007, introducing a 
‘stop’ on creditor enforcement 
action and a freeze on 
interest. In July 2011 the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(Scotland) Regulations 
came into force allowing 
for improved access to the 
Scheme.

The Bankruptcy and Diligence 
etc. (Scotland) Act 2007 (‘the 
2007 Act’) made further 
amendments to the 1985 Act 
by reforming and modernising 
the process of bankruptcy. To 
facilitate the commencement 
of these provisions, the 
formal responsibility 
for supporting Scottish 
Ministers in the development 
of bankruptcy policy in 
Scotland transferred to the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
from the Scottish Government 
Justice Directorate. Under 
the 2007 Act the Agency 
was given responsibility for 
the adjudication of debtor 
applications for bankruptcy 
from 1 April 2008.

In 2010 further amendments 
to the 1985 Act were made 
through part 2 of the Home 
Owner & Debtor Protection 
(Scotland) Act 2010 which 
introduced a new certificated 
route into bankruptcy and 
increased debtor protections. 

http://www.aib.gov.uk
http://www.aib.gov.uk
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is to ensure access to fair and just processes of 
debt relief and debt management for the people 

of Scotland, which takes account of the rights 
and interests of those involved.

AiB’s mission
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In 2011-12, AiB transferred 
portfolio alignment from 
Justice to Finance, 
Employment and Sustainable 
Growth. This move fits well with 
our mission and better aligns 
with those Scottish Government’s 
National Outcomes to which 
we aim to contribute:  

• We realise our full 
economic potential with 
more and better employment 
opportunities for our people 
(Outcome 2).

• We have tackled the 
significant inequalities in 
Scottish society (Outcome 7).

• We have strong,  
resilient and supportive 
communities where people 
take responsibility for their 
own actions and how they 
affect others (Outcome 11).

• We reduce the local and 
global environmental impact 
of our consumption and 
production (Outcome 14).

What we do
The Scottish Government’s 
purpose is to focus 
government and public 
services on creating a 
more successful country 
with opportunities for all of 
Scotland to flourish, through 
increasing sustainable 
economic growth.

The Scottish Government’s 
purpose is delivered 
through seven Purpose 
Targets, supported by five 
Strategic Objectives with 
15 National Outcomes as 
the clear and consistent 
set of priorities across 
government and its agencies. 
Together with 45 National 
Indicators and targets, 
activity and contributions 
are directed towards the 
single overarching purpose. 
The National Performance 
Framework demonstrates the 
Scottish Government’s route 
to achievement of its purpose.

• Our public services are 
high quality, continually 
improving, efficient and 
responsive to local people’s 
needs (Outcome 15).

AiB’s change in portfolio 
alignment also emphasises:

• that the purpose of 
bankruptcy is to allow 
people a fresh start free of 
debt – that includes sole 
traders and partnerships 

• our links to the Scottish 
Government’s economic 
strategy – providing a 
supportive business 
environment and 
contributing to the growth  
of the Scottish economy 

• that we support an 
infrastructure and 
framework of borrowing and 
lending in the economy and 
ensure an effective system 
for creditors to recover their 
debts. 

http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/scotPerforms
http://www.scotland.gov.uk/About/scotPerforms
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We will achieve delivery of these outcomes 
through the following key functions, whilst 
recognising our unique statutory role:

•  Supporting Ministers to develop and refine 
policy.

•  Supervising the insolvency process.

•  Delivering, with stakeholders, a range of 
options for individuals seeking debt relief 
and debt management.

•  Delivering best value services to our 
customers. 

As Scotland’s Insolvency Service, 
AiB has a key role in bankruptcy, 
and it is vitally important for the  

public that they can trust the process, 
and that it is quick in terms of delivery 

 and quality. The Agency has shown  
that it has moved forward, and will  
have many challenges ahead given  

the current economic climate.  
Yvonne MacDermid OBE,  

Chief Executive,  
Money Advice Scotland
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AiB’s Performance 
Framework:
The Agency measures 
its performance against 
achievement of its agreed 
objectives detailed in the 
annual business plans and 
benchmarked standards of 
AiB’s core service delivery. 

Our values 
We will ensure that our 
activities are:
• independent
• responsive
• accountable
• transparent
• fair
• open

SG
PURPOSE

NATIONAL
OUTCOMES

KEY FUNCTIONS

AiB BUSINESS PLAN

BRANCH PLAN

EMPLOYEE OBJECTIVES

KPIs

KPIs
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Supporting Ministers to 
develop and refine policy by:

• developing policy for 
personal and corporate 
insolvency and diligence in 
Scotland

• developing policy for the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS).

Supervising the insolvency 
process by:

• supervising the regulation 
of the bankruptcy 
process including the 
performance of trustees 
and commissioners in the 
exercise of their statutory 
duty

• regulating and supervising 
the registration and 
administration of protected 
trust deeds (PTDs), 
including the performance 
of trustees

• investigating and applying 
for bankruptcy restriction 
orders or agreeing 
bankruptcy restriction 
undertakings (BRO/BRU)

• maintaining a public 
Register of Insolvencies 

(ROI), which records details 
of bankruptcies, awarded 
by the Scottish courts or by 
the Agency, and PTDs

• maintaining a record of 
BROs and BRUs as well  
as company insolvencies  
on the ROI

• registering company 
insolvency documents 
required to be filed by 
receivers and liquidators in 
terms of the Insolvency Act 
1986.

Delivering, with stakeholders, 
a range of options for 
individuals seeking debt relief 
and debt management by:

• determining debtor 
applications for bankruptcy

• acting as trustee in all 
bankruptcies awarded 
by the Agency, where 
The Accountant does not 
appoint an insolvency 
practitioner as trustee

• acting as trustee in all 
bankruptcies awarded by 
the sheriff courts, where a 
Sheriff does not appoint an 
insolvency practitioner as 
trustee

• acting as interim trustee 
before the award of 
bankruptcy except in those 
cases where an alternative 
interim trustee is appointed 
as a result of a nomination 
by the petitioning creditor

• acting as trustee when 
appointed by the Sheriff on 
the resignation or death of 
the original trustee where 
no new trustee is elected

• undertaking the functions 
of the commissioners in 
bankruptcies where none 
are elected by creditors

• adjudicating on DAS debt 
payment programmes 
(DPP) applications and 
approving money advisers 
(who are not in the 
approved categories) to 
deliver DAS

• maintaining the DAS 
register.

Delivering best value services 
to customers by:

• reducing the requirement 
for public funding

• embedding efficient 
systems and processes.

Definitions of our key functions are listed below:

Key activities
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Policy development
Our Business Plan for 2011-12 
had been developed at a time 
of some uncertainty given the 
forthcoming Scottish elections 
in May 2011. Following the 
election, the new Government 
made clear their broad and 
ambitious agenda for reform, 
focusing on improvements to 
the system as a whole. AiB 
was tasked with developing 
plans for the modernisation 
of bankruptcy law in Scotland 
to ultimately deliver a 
system of debt advice, debt 
management and debt relief, 
fit for the 21st century, under 
the umbrella of a ‘Financial 
Health Service’. 

We embraced this challenge 
and have developed our Vision 
for improvements to the 
bankruptcy system. The role 
of AiB within this Vision is 
being progressed and the  
key principles of the service 
that we are seeking to develop 
will be:

• Ensuring that the people 
of Scotland have access 

to fair and just processes 
of debt relief and debt 
management.

• Those debtors who can 
pay should pay their debts, 
whilst acknowledging 
the wide range of 
circumstances and events 
that contribute towards 
bankruptcy for both 
individuals and businesses.

• Securing the best return 
for creditors by ensuring 
that the rights and needs of 
those in debt are balanced 
with the needs of creditors 
and businesses.

A public consultation paper, 
launched on 24 February 
2012, set out our proposals 
for wide-ranging reform to 
bankruptcy law. Plans will be 
progressed further over the 
coming business year with a 
view to early reform of the law. 
Reform will be followed by 
consolidation of legislation to 
allow a clearer understanding 
of, and easier access to, the 
law. 

Our focus on developing our 
Vision work required a re-
prioritisation of some other 
tasks set out in our business 
plan. We continued to focus 
on delivery of an improved 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS), a public consultation 
on improving protected 
trust deeds and building 
our relationships with key 
stakeholders. 

Following a report by the 
protected trust deed working 
group, which I chaired at the 
request of Ministers, and the 
development of a best practice 
guidance document on the 
management of trust deeds, a 
public consultation was held. 

The purpose of this 
consultation was to seek 
views on recommendations 
which are intended to:

• make the current trust 
deed process more efficient

• ensure the process is fit  
for purpose and 

• ensure that it strikes the 
best balance between the 
needs of debtors and the 
rights of creditors. 

The year in focus
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Responses to the consultation 
were being analysed and a 
report was published at the 
end of April 2012 summarising 
responses and setting out the 
way forward. 

With the focus on these 
activities, the planned 
consultation on the treatment 
of the family home in diligence 
and bankruptcy was deferred. 
This issue will be revisited at 
some point in the future yet to 
be determined. 

Planned work to modernise 
the Scottish rules on 
corporate insolvency was 
delayed while the Scotland 
Bill was being debated at 
Westminster. It is now clear 
that the rules relating to 
corporate insolvency in 
Scotland remain devolved. 
Work to update the rules is 
now a key priority for this 
business year.

We have continued to 
strengthen our relationships 
with our stakeholders across 
the insolvency and money 
advice sectors during this 
year. There was strong 

support for our programme 
of events run in the autumn 
in Glasgow, Edinburgh 
and Inverness. The events 
provided an opportunity to 
have an early discussion about 
our emerging vision with an 
opportunity for participants 
to influence the way forward. 
These stakeholder meetings 
are now an integral part of the 
AiB calendar and events will 
take place in 2012.

Delivery of the 
service
To deliver the requirements 
of the new DAS process 
the new DAS case 
management system, the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
Hub (DASH), was launched 
successfully on 1 July 2011. 
DASH is a web-based hub 
that allows those involved in 
the DAS process to submit 
online transactions and to 
view case records saving the 
requirement for paper-based 
communication. We currently 
have 111 DAS approved 
money advisers and 153 major 
creditors using the DASH 
electronic process.

A marketing campaign to 
further promote DAS took 
place between February and 
March 2012. The campaign 
included a television advert, 
a variety of targeted media 
coverage including a week-
long feature in the Daily 
Record and Sunday Mail, and 
a programme of field work 
across the country. The 
campaign has generated 
a growth in DAS specific 
enquiries to money advisers 
leading to continued growth 
in application numbers. There 
has also been a rise in interest 
from those organisations 
wishing to expand the advice 
service they offer to clients to 
include DAS. 

Applications to DAS have 
grown steadily over the year 
with a total of 3,319 approved 
debt payment programmes 
(DPP) at end March 2012 with 
2,273 approved since 1 July 
2011. This represents an 
increase of 74% on the total of 
DPPs approved last year. DAS 
continues to be the fastest 
growing product in AiB’s 
portfolio. 
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Following a number of 
exploratory meetings 
agreement was reached to 
deliver independent money 
advice to AiB customers 
from our Kilwinning office 
in partnership with North 
Ayrshire Citizens Advice 
Service (NACAS), this was 
an objective in the 2011-12 
Business Plan. The money 
advice service is completely 
independent of AiB and the 
adviser is an employee of 
NACAS. Initially the advice 
service will be offered for the 
duration of a one-year pilot. 
The availability of a money 
adviser on our premises will 
improve service provision for 
individuals who arrive at our 
office, or make contact by 
telephone, looking for advice.

Slightly increased numbers 
of debtor applications have 
been processed by AiB staff 
this year. In the first full year 
since introduction of Home 
Owner and Debtor Protection 
(Scotland) Act 2010, 33% of 
debtor application awards 
were through the certificate 
route. The certificate for 

sequestration was reviewed 
at the stakeholder events 
in Glasgow, Edinburgh and 
Inverness. Feedback from 
stakeholders has been 
positive and has improved 
access to debt relief. Further 
efficiencies have been 
incorporated in our service 
with the average clearance 
times for applications 
reducing to 4.9 days from  
5.6 days in 2010-11. 

Further enhancements to 
the Register of Insolvencies 
(RoI) were made as a result of 
continued consultation with 
stakeholders. Date of birth 
information for sequestrations 
is now included in the RoI 
record. The provision of this 
information has allowed 
creditors and commercial 
users to have increased 
clarity in the identification of 
bankrupt debtors. 

We are committed to 
improving communications 
with our stakeholders and 
have introduced a secure 
file transfer service pilot 
which allows stakeholders 

to send protected trust deed 
documentation electronically 
saving time and resources for 
all parties.

Supporting the 
business and our 
customers
In 2011-12 the Agency’s 
Framework for Insolvency 
Services continued 
successfully with the Agency 
exercising its option to extend 
the contract for a year, until 
31 March 2013. Suppliers 
to the Framework agreed 
to waive their annual fee 
increment for the extended 
period.

The Agency’s Framework 
for Insolvency Services was 
subject to a Gateway review 
during the year and this 
review highlighted the success 
of the Framework and of the 
Agency’s relationship with 
the Scottish Government’s 
Information Services & 
Information Systems Division 
(ISIS), who successful 
developed the web portal 
utilised for operation of the 
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Framework. The continuous 
improvement process in 
relation to the operation 
of the Framework saw 
the implementation of the 
bulk payment of invoices, 
a chip and pin process to 
receive payments and the 
implementation of a more 
efficient Discharge process. 

As part of our commitment 
to continuous improvement 
and delivering efficiencies we 
reviewed and strengthened 
our governance arrangements 
around change activities. The 
Innovation and Efficiencies 
Board was formed to enable 
and encourage innovation 
across the Agency and 
to ensure the realisation 
of business benefits and 
efficiencies from all project 
and change activities. It is 
expected that all identified 
benefits will be managed and 
delivered in a manner which 
will allow them to contribute 
to the Agency’s Efficiency 
Programme and, where 
appropriate, the Scottish 
Government’s Efficient 
Government Programme.

As part of the Scottish 
Government’s Efficient 
Government Programme, AiB 
had a target of delivering cash 
releasing efficiency savings 
of at least £61,000 in 2011-12. 
AiB substantially exceeded 
this target, delivering cash 
releasing efficiencies of 
£583,145 in the year. These 
recurring cash savings were 
delivered through shared 
services for building security, 
use of our own Register of 
Insolvencies for publishing 
insolvency-related notices 
and savings delivered through 
procurement and improved 
supplier management.

During the year AiB 
underwent our third annual 
Procurement Capability 
Assessment (PCA) carried 
out by Procurement Scotland. 
The 2011 result was a score 
of 59% with our rating 
moving from ‘conformance’ 
to ‘improved performance’. 
The 2011 PCA demonstrated 
the commitment the Agency 
has made to developing and 
improving the procurement 
function within the Agency, 
with the 2010 and 2009 PCA 

scores being 41% and 26% 
respectively.

Procurement activity in 2011-
12 to support the business 
has included:

• A competition exercise 
carried out to establish 
an appointed panel of 
payments distributors 
for DAS. This resulted 
in reduced commission 
fees, less than allowed by 
regulations, ensuring a 
higher return to creditors.

• A tender exercise carried 
out through new Scottish 
Government Legal 
Directorate framework to 
secure a Legal Services 
Provider for the Agency. 
This competition secured 
competitive ‘fixed fee’ 
pricing with hourly rates for 
‘defended’ actions.

• A procurement exercise 
to secure a chartered 
surveyor service provider. 
A single surveyor firm 
was appointed to deal 
with work stemming 
from AiB sequestration 
cases. The tender was 
issued in January 2012, 
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with competition securing 
savings to the costs of 
valuation. The new contract 
commenced on 28 April 
2012. This move to a single 
supplier follows the model 
already adopted in our 
contract for the provision of 
legal services.

• Collaborative procurement 
exercises which have 
been completed or are 
ongoing are to secure a 
cash collection service, 
a handyman service for 
sequestration cases and 
a treasury management 
service.

In April 2012, AiB completed 
the last instalment of a three-
year assessment working 
towards re-accreditation  
of Investors in People (IiP) 
status. Investors in People  
is the national framework 
which sets out a level of  
good practice for training  
and development of people  
to achieve organisational 
objectives. The Agency was 
assessed across the full  
range of key areas included  

in the Investors in People 
Framework.

AiB successfully achieved 
re-accreditation and was also 
awarded IiP Gold status. There 
is a total of 1,311 
organisations from across 
Scotland who are accredited 
with IiP status, out of these 
organisations there are only 
43 that meet the requirements 
for Gold status.

From 2011-12 AiB is required 
to produce a public sector 
sustainability report. This 
report will detail the financial 
and non-financial information 
relating to the year, covering 
our emissions, waste, water 
and other finite resource 
consumption. This report will 
be published on our website 
when complete.

Research and 
future business 
development
The year ahead will bring the 
preparation and procurement 
exercise to secure a revised, 
best value contract for 

Insolvency Services and will 
see the further development 
of the web portal with 
enhancements already in 
development. The Agency’s 
Framework for Insolvency 
Services has delivered 
significant savings to the 
Agency and planning has 
commenced for the tender of 
the next Insolvency Services 
Contract to continue to build 
on these savings.

During 2012-13 we will see 
further development to the 
new DAS case management 
system which will not only 
improve service delivery but 
deliver further efficiency 
savings. In addition to the 
DAS case management 
system, AiB will continue to 
work in partnership with ISIS 
(the Scottish Government’s 
in-house Information and 
Communications Technology 
division) to take advantage of 
new technology to improve 
service delivery. As part of 
this drive to improve service 
delivery in the year ahead we 
will consider the replacement 
of our main case management 
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system. To that end we are 
collaborating with colleagues 
delivering Insolvency 
Services in other countries, 
to explore opportunities 
to deliver efficiencies in 
system development and 
implementation. This may 
include jointly exploiting 
existing IT systems and 
applications or working in 
partnership towards future 
developments. 

Substantial work has taken 
place during the year 
on improvements to the 
Agency’s financial modelling 
capabilities. This work has 

informed our fee-setting 
process and has enabled the 
Agency to continue to move 
towards full recovery of the 
costs we incur in the provision 
of our services. Work in this 
area will continue in 2012-
13 and will link to our policy 
development work on our 
Vision – to ensure Scotland’s 
place as a world leader in 
terms of both practice and 
provision of debt solutions.

The annual Business Plan for 
2012-13 sets out the high-
level short-term objectives 
that the Agency will take 
forward to prepare for the 

delivery of its ambitious Vision 
for the future of insolvency in 
Scotland. A Corporate Plan 
will be developed, following 
the results of the consultation 
on bankruptcy reform, during 
2012-13 in partnership with 
our key stakeholders and will 
set out the strategic goals for 
the Agency until 2015. 

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable Officer

1 August 2012 
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AiB recognises a prompt 
response on the outcome 
of an application is very 
important to our customers as 
this will have a major impact 
on their financial future. This 
indicator measures the time 
taken to notify a debtor of a 
bankruptcy award.

KPI 1 – To adjudicate and inform the outcome of debtor 
applications on receipt of all relevant information

Last year, following a number 
of improvements to the 
debtor application process 
as a result of the Home 
Owner and Debtor Protection 
(Scotland) Act 2010, including 
the removal of Form 17, the 
time taken to adjudicate and 
inform the outcome of debtor 

applications was reduced 
significantly from 6.3 days at 
the beginning of 2010-11 to 
4.9 days by the end of the year 
(2010-11 average of 5.6 days). 
This performance has been 
maintained throughout 2011-12, 
with an average time taken of 
4.9 days.

Key performance 
indicators

AiB is working hard to ensure that the 
needs of all debtors are taken account 
of in the way that the Scottish personal 

insolvency regime is structured. Whilst it 
is unlikely that stakeholders will support 
all of the proposals, we feel there is real 

merit in some of them and hopefully, with 
engagement from all stakeholders, whatever 

comes out at the end of the process will be 
robust, modern, fair to all parties involved 

and flexible enough to provide Scotland with 
a regime that will be fit for purpose for a 

number of years.

Mike Norris 
(Max Recovery)
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AiB has a statutory duty 
to maximise the return 
to creditors. Information 
indicates the level of dividend 
is predominantly driven by 
the economic conditions 
and environment in which 
cases are determined. The 
majority of cases where AiB 
is the trustee are those with 
little disposable income, 
which impacts on AiB’s 

It is important for creditors 
and other stakeholders that 
accounts are determined 
accurately and quickly as 
the determination provides 

ability to influence ongoing 
improvement in the rate of 
return. This KPI focuses 
the efforts of our staff and 
providers on maximising 
income from contributions, for 
example, and improving our 
working practices to maximise 
efficiency so we can influence 
an overall increase in the 
percentage figure of cases 
where a dividend is paid.

the authority to pay any fees, 
outlays and dividends that 
are due. Through continuous 
improvement of our accounts 
process, the average accounts 

This year 15.6% of cases 
produced a dividend for 
creditors compared with 
10.6% for 2010-11. This is 
as a result of new processes 
introduced last year, 
such as direct telephone 
payment procedure and 
greater use of sheriff officers, 
where required, to improve 
on our dividend payment 
performance.

determination time has 
reduced from 7.3 days in 
2010-11, to 6.5 days in  
2011-12.  

KPI 3 – To promptly determine accounts on receipt of all relevant 
information from trustees

KPI 2 – To increase the percentage of cases where a dividend is 
paid out to creditors
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In seeking to reduce the 
cost of its services to the 
public purse, AiB’s service 
users – our customers – are 
increasingly covering the cost 
of the Agency. AiB recognises 
the need to focus on and 
improve service delivery, 
monitoring and evaluation 
performance through 
customer feedback.

This indicator was introduced 
to ensure applications for debt 
payment programmes (DPPs) 
are processed and customers 
are advised of the outcome 
promptly to protect them 
from diligence and enable 
them to set up repayments to 
creditors. 

The Debt Arrangement 
Scheme (DAS) was re-
launched in July 2011 and 

In October 2009 a customer 
service survey was carried 
out resulting in an overall 
satisfaction rating of 93%. 
The nature of the score left 
little room for investigation 
of areas for improvement. 
In consultation with our 
stakeholders, we decided 
to look for a way to identify 
specific areas for development 

the volume of applications 
has increased by 74% during 
the year. The re-launched 
scheme has allowed for 
electronic interaction with 
creditors as part of DAS and 
this has led to a dramatic 
increase in the number of 
DPPs which are subject to 
a ‘fair and reasonable’ test 
before they are approved. As 
a result the number of days 
taken to process applications 

through a process of more 
regularly gathered feedback. 
Work continued in 2011-12 
to explore how we can best 
obtain evaluation of the 
service we deliver across the 
range of AiB’s service users 
throughout the period of a 
customer’s contact with the 
Agency. 

and advise customers of 
the outcome has risen 
from 2.3 days in 2010-11 
to 4.9 days in 2011-12. We 
expect that the volume of 
‘fair and reasonable’ tests 
will continue under the re-
launched scheme and will on 
an ongoing basis ensure the 
number of days to process 
continues at the 2011-12 level.

KPI 5 – To improve customer experience

KPI 4 – To adjudicate and inform the result of the Debt 
Arrangements Scheme applications on receipt of all relevant 
information
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KPI 6 – To improve employee engagement within the Agency

KPI 7 – To reduce the unit cost of sequestration

Evidence shows that engaged 
employees are far more 
committed and productive 
to improved service delivery. 
To measure performance 
against this indicator, AiB 
takes part annually in the 
UK Civil Service Employee 
Engagement Survey, a survey 
measuring the attitudes and 
opinions of Civil Servants 
across the UK. Taking 
part allows the Agency to 

This KPI focuses on achieving 
efficiency savings in the use of 
staff and resources for cases 
where The Accountant in 
Bankruptcy is trustee, helping 
AiB to reduce the impact of its 
service delivery on the public 
purse. The indicator excludes 
Low Income Low Asset cases.

benchmark itself against 
the other participating UK 
Departments and Agencies. 

The Agency scored an overall 
Employee Engagement score 
of 60%. While the score fell 
slightly this year in absolute 
terms (2010-11 – 63%), the 
Agency scores 5% higher 
than the Civil Service average 
engagement score and 3% 
higher than the Scottish 

There has been a 19.9% 
drop in the unit cost of 
sequestration from £1,605 in 
2010-11  to £1,286 in 2011-12. 
This has primarily been driven 
by the efficiencies feeding 
through from improved 
contracts with key suppliers 
involved in the sequestration 

Government. This is a 
welcome result given the 
uncertain landscape of the 
public sector. The Agency 
is seeking to address 
its declining employee 
engagement and we have 
developed action plans 
designed to ensure employee 
engagement continues to 
underpin the delivery of the 
Agency’s objectives.

process. The measure has 
also been affected by the 
introduction of a new financial 
model which measures unit 
cost more accurately.
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KPI 8 – To reduce the unit cost of the Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(DAS)

This indicator measures 
the unit cost of processing 
each DAS application and 
debt payment programme, 
aiming to reduce the cost of 
managing the scheme. The 
unit cost is the gross cost of 
administering DAS and does 
not include contributions paid 

by debtors towards their debt 
payment programmes (DPP).

In 2010-11 the unit cost of 
administering DAS was £32. 
DAS was re-launched in July 
2011 at which time a new case 
management system for DAS 
was introduced. The new case 

management system, coupled 
with other changes to DAS 
have led to an increase in the 
unit cost. In 2011-12 the unit 
cost of DAS was £76. This unit 
cost is expected to fall quickly 
as the volume of approved 
DPPs agreed rises.
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Statistical information

The following tables provide statistical information for 2011-12 
and historical comparisons with the previous year or four years 
in relation to bankruptcies awarded, protected trust deeds, 
corporate insolvencies and debt payment programmes under 
the Debt Arrangement Scheme registered. 

For full explanation of some of the bankruptcy-related terms detailed in the following 
section please refer to the glossary of terms available on AiB’s website

http://www.aib.gov.uk/help/glossary
http://www.aib.gov.uk/
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Bankruptcies awarded and protected trust deeds (PTDs) registered 
2007-2012

Year Bankruptcies awarded Protected trust deeds registered

2007-08 6,158 7,509

2008-09 14,777 7,633

2009-10 13,810 9,188

2010-11 11,443 7,980

2011-12 11,056 9,194

Year

Bankruptcies awarded and PTDs registered 2007-2012
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The above shows the number 
of bankruptcies awarded 
and protected trust deeds 
(PTDs) registered since 2007. 
Bankruptcy is the process of 
legally conveying a debtor’s 
estate to a trustee to realise 
for the benefit of creditors. 

The table shows a 3.4% 
reduction in the number of 
bankruptcies awarded and 
a 15.2% increase in PTDs 
registered in 2011-12, with a 
combined impact on the total 
number of insolvencies being 
a 4.3% increase. It should 

be noted that in 2008-09 
following the introduction of 
revised legislation to widen 
access to bankruptcy, there 
was a significant increase in 
the number of bankruptcies 
awarded.

Bankruptcies awarded and PTDs registered by year
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Bankruptcy awards and protected trust deed (PTD) registrations by 
quarter 2011-12

Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 2011-12 2010-11
Apr – Jun Jul – Sep Oct – Dec Jan – Mar Total Total

Awards of 
bankruptcy 
by petition 
type

Debtor 
applications 2,459 2,348 2,221 2,142 9,170 8,830

Creditor petitions 446 439 373 463 1,721 2,278
Trustee under 
trust deed 
petitions 

43 70 31 21 165 335

Total awards 2,948 2,857 2,625 2,626 11,056 11,443
Protected trust deeds 
registered 2,372 2,526 2,049 2,247 9,194 7,980

Type

Award of bankruptcy by type 2010-2012
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The above shows a further 
breakdown in the volume 
of bankruptcy awards and 
PTDs by quarter during 
2011-12, also indicating the 
process followed towards 
award of sequestration. The 
route into bankruptcy has 
been categorised by those 
applications made by the 

debtors themselves to the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
(debtor applications), the 
application to the court by 
a creditor to pursue the 
sequestration of a debtor 
(creditor petition) and those 
cases where the trustee under 
a trust deed has applied to 
the court for the debtor’s 

sequestration where the trust 
deed has failed (trustee under 
trust deed petitions). 

The figures show a increase of 
3.9% for debtor applications, a 
50.7% drop in trustee petitions 
and a 24.5% drop in creditor 
petitions during 2011-12. 
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Distribution of trustee appointments in bankruptcy awards in the 
year 31 March 2012

Appointment of trustee (a) The Accountant in Bankruptcy

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Appointments arising from:    

 Debtor applications AiB as trustee 6,897 7,820 -11.8%

 Creditor petitions AiB as trustee 1,409 1,907 -26.1%

 Trustees under trust deeds AiB as trustee 133 291 -54.3%

Total: 8,439 10,018 -15.8%

Appointment of trustee (b) Insolvency Practitioners

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Appointments arising from:    

 Debtor applications IP as trustee 2,273 1,010 125.0%

 Creditor petitions IP as trustee 312 371 -15.9%

 Trustees under trust deeds IP as trustee 32 44 -27.3%

Total: 2,617 1,425 83.6%

The above shows the 
distribution of sequestration 
cases allocated in the year 
to 31 March 2011-12. In 
comparison with 2010-11 
sequestration awards where 
AiB was the appointed 
trustee dropped by 15.8% and 
those where an Insolvency 
Practitioner was the 
nominated trustee increased 
by 83.6%. This increase 
in Insolvency Practitioner 
nominations as trustee is 
attributed to the introduction 
of the Certificate for 
Sequestration.

Distribution of Trustee appointments 
in Bankruptcy Awards 2011/12

Debtor applications AiB as trustee

Creditor petitions AiB as trustee

Trustees under trust deeds AiB 
as trustee

Debtor applications IP as trustee

Creditor petitions IP as trustee

62%

3%
21%

1%

13%

Distribution of trustee appointments 
in bankruptcy awards 2011-12
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Debtor applications received by AiB in the year to  
31 March 2012

2011-12 2010-11 % Change
Applications received 9,506 9,331 1.9%

Applications returned 103 194 -46.9%

Rejections 259 457 -43.3%

Apparent insolvency criteria 1,413 2,090 -32.4%

LILA criteria 4,668 6,086 -23.3%
Certificate for sequestration criteria 3,089 654 *

* Certificate for Sequestration introduced on 15 November 2010 as part of the Home Owner and Debtor 
Protection (Scotland) Act 2010. The 2010-11 figure is not a full year of data and is thus not directly 
comparable with the 2011-12 figure which is a full year of data.

Apparent insolvency LILA Certificate for sequestration 

Application route

Debtor applications received 2011-2012
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The above shows the 
breakdown of applications 
made by debtors to AiB in 
2011-12. The information 

shows a reduction of 23.3% 
in the applications awarded 
under the LILA criteria and a 
32.4% drop in awards made 

under the apparent insolvency 
criteria in 2010-11.
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Bankruptcy Restriction Orders and Bankruptcy Restriction 
Undertakings

 2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Bankruptcy Restriction Undertakings accepted 26 19 36.8%

Bankruptcy Restriction Orders granted 4 4 0.0%

Interim Bankruptcy Restriction Orders granted 4 2 100.0%

Bankruptcy Restriction Order applications 
pending at year end

 
34

 
2

 
1600.0%

Bankruptcy Restriction Orders 
(BROs) and Bankruptcy 
Undertakings (BRUs) were 
introduced by The Bankruptcy 
and Diligence etc. (Scotland) 
Act 2007 which amended The 
Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 
1985 and came in to force on 
1 April 2008. These measures 
provide a level of protection 
to businesses and consumers 

to make debtors accountable 
where their behaviour and 
conduct, either before or 
during their bankruptcy, 
has been dishonest or 
blameworthy in some way. 
BRUs are agreed with the 
cooperation of a debtor whilst 
BROs require an application 
through the court. 

This appendix shows the 
number and breakdown for 
2011-12 and the previous year 
indicating no change in the 
number of BROs granted and 
an increase in BRUs of 36.8%. 
At the end of 2011-12 there 
was a significant rise in the 
number of BRO applications 
pending (1600.0%).
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Bankruptcy awards by Local Authority area in the year to  
31 March 2012

Local Authority
Percentage of 

bankruptcies in 
2011-12

Local Authority
Bankruptcies per 

10,000 working age 
people in 2011-12

Glasgow City 11.1% West Dunbartonshire 58.2
Fife 9.4% West Lothian 47.5
South Lanarkshire 7.8% North Ayrshire 45.8
North Lanarkshire 7.1% Fife 43.6
City of Edinburgh 5.4% South Lanarkshire 42.0
West Lothian 4.9% Dundee City 40.6
Highland 4.5% Falkirk 39.1
North Ayrshire 3.6% East Lothian 37.3
Falkirk 3.6% North Lanarkshire 36.1
Dundee City 3.5% Midlothian 34.8
Aberdeen City 3.5% East Ayrshire 34.8
Renfrewshire 3.5% Highland 34.7
West Dunbartonshire 3.2% Renfrewshire 34.2
Aberdeenshire 2.9% Moray 31.6
Dumfries & Galloway 2.5% Angus 31.3
East Ayrshire 2.5% Inverclyde 31.3
Perth & Kinross 2.2% Clackmannanshire 31.1
East Lothian 2.1% Dumfries & Galloway 29.8
Angus 2.0% Glasgow City 29.3
Scottish Borders 1.8% Scottish Borders 27.4
Midlothian 1.7% Argyll & Bute 27.4
Moray 1.6% Stirling 26.5
South Ayrshire 1.6% Aberdeen City 25.3
Inverclyde 1.5% Perth & Kinross 25.1
Stirling 1.4% South Ayrshire 24.4
Argyll & Bute 1.4% East Renfrewshire 23.3
East Renfrewshire 1.2% Eilean Siar 22.4
East Dunbartonshire 1.1% Aberdeenshire 19.6
Clackmannanshire 0.9% East Dunbartonshire 18.3
Eilean Siar 0.3% Orkney Islands 17.4
Orkney Islands 0.2% City of Edinburgh 17.2
Shetland Islands 0.2% Shetland Islands 14.0
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By using the postcode 
information recorded for 
each bankruptcy, 98.7% of 
all bankruptcies in 2011-12 
were able to be matched to 
a Local Authority area. The 
Local Authorities with higher 
populations feature at or near 
the top of the percentage 
table as naturally there are 
more debtors in Glasgow City 
than the Shetland Islands. 
By establishing the working 

age population of each Local 
Authority, the number of 
bankruptcies per 10,000 
working age people can be 
estimated, providing a more 
representative picture of the 
concentration of bankruptcies. 
Working age population 
estimates for each Local 
Authority are taken from 
the most recent National 
Records of Scotland mid-year 
estimates.
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Bankruptcies in 2011/12, per 10,000 working age people
Bankruptcies 

1 Aberdeen City 24.9
2 Aberdeenshire 19.5
3 Angus 31.4
4 Argyll & Bute 27.3
5 Clackmannanshire 16.8
6 Dumfries & Galloway 31.2
7 Dundee City 40.1
8 East Ayrshire 34.8
9 East Dunbartonshire 18.4

10 East Lothian 37.1
11 East Renfrewshire 23.2
12 Edinburgh, City of 16.8
13 Eilean Siar 22.5
14 Falkirk 38.8
15 Fife 43.5
16 Glasgow City 28.9
17 Highland 34.7
18 Inverclyde 31.6
19 Midlothian 34.3
20 Moray 31.9
21 North Ayrshire 45.9
22 North Lanarkshire 36.1
23 Orkney Islands 17.3
24 Perth & Kinross 24.8
25 Renfrewshire 34.2
26 Scottish Borders 27.4
27 Shetland Islands 13.9
28 South Ayrshire 24.5
29 South Lanarkshire 42.0
30 Stirling 26.2
31 West Dunbartonshire 58.5
32 West Lothian 47.4
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Protected trust deeds registered (PTDs) by Local Authority area in 
the year to 31 March 2012

Local Authority
Percentage of 

PTDs in 2011-12
Local Authority

PTDs per 10,000 
working age 

people in 2011-12
Glasgow City 13.5% South Lanarkshire 39.2
North Lanarkshire  8.9% West Lothian 38.2
South Lanarkshire  8.7% North Lanarkshire 38.1
Fife  7.2% North Ayrshire 37.5
City of Edinburgh  5.4% Clackmannanshire 36.6
West Lothian  4.7% Falkirk 35.6
Falkirk  3.9% West Dunbartonshire 35.0
Renfrewshire  3.9% East Ayrshire 33.9
North Ayrshire  3.5% Midlothian 32.5
Aberdeenshire  3.3% Renfrewshire 32.1
Highland  3.3% South Ayrshire 31.0
East Ayrshire  2.9% Glasgow City 29.8
Aberdeen City  2.5% East Lothian 28.1
South Ayrshire  2.4% Fife 28.1
Dundee City  2.3% Angus 28.0
West Dunbartonshire  2.3% Argyll & Bute 25.0
Dumfries & Galloway  2.2% East Renfrewshire 23.0
Angus  2.2% Inverclyde 23.0
Perth & Kinross  2.1% Dumfries & Galloway 22.2
East Lothian  2.0% Dundee City 22.1
Midlothian  1.9% Highland 21.2
Argyll & Bute  1.8% Moray 21.0
Scottish Borders  1.5% Stirling 20.3
East Dunbartonshire  1.5% East Dunbartonshire 19.7
East Renfrewshire  1.4% Perth & Kinross 19.6
Clackmannanshire  1.4% Scottish Borders 19.5
Inverclyde  1.3% Aberdeenshire 19.1
Stirling  1.3% Eilean Siar 15.5
Moray  1.3% Aberdeen City 15.4
Eilean Siar  0.3% City of Edinburgh 14.3
Shetland Islands  0.2% Shetland Islands 11.9
Orkney Islands  0.1% Orkney Islands  3.9

By using the postcode 
information recorded for each 
protected trust deed (PTD) 
registered, 99.8% of all PTDs 
in 2011-12 were able to be 
matched to a Local Authority 
area. As with bankruptcy 
awards, the Local Authorities 

with higher populations 
feature at or near the top of 
the percentage table. Again 
by establishing the working 
age population of each Local 
Authority, the number of 
PTDs registered per 10,000 
working age people can 

be estimated. Working age 
population estimates for each 
Local Authority are taken 
from the most recent National 
Records of Scotland mid-year 
estimates.
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PTDs in 2011/12, per 10,000 working age people
PTDs

1 Aberdeen City 15.2
2 Aberdeenshire 19.0
3 Angus 28.1
4 Argyll & Bute 24.9
5 Clackmannanshire 36.6
6 Dumfries & Galloway 22.4
7 Dundee City 21.8
8 East Ayrshire 33.9
9 East Dunbartonshire 19.8

10 East Lothian 28.0
11 East Renfrewshire 22.9
12 Edinburgh, City of 14.0
13 Eilean Siar 15.6
14 Falkirk 35.6
15 Fife 28.0
16 Glasgow City 29.4
17 Highland 21.2
18 Inverclyde 23.1
19 Midlothian 32.0
20 Moray 21.2
21 North Ayrshire 37.6
22 North Lanarkshire 38.2
23 Orkney Islands 3.9
24 Perth & Kinross 19.4
25 Renfrewshire 32.1
26 Scottish Borders 19.5
27 Shetland Islands 11.8
28 South Ayrshire 31.2
29 South Lanarkshire 39.2
30 Stirling 20.0
31 West Dunbartonshire 35.1
32 West Lothian 38.1
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Bankruptcies and PTDs discharged by year
Total number of bankruptcy and PTD cases where the trustee has been discharged

Year Bankruptcy Protected trust deeds

2007-08  3,569 6,250

2008-09  5,748 6,166

2009-10 15,764 6,944

2010-11 16,887 7,387

2011-12 12,106 5,428

Year

Total number of bankruptcies and PTDs where 
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The above shows the number 
of bankruptcies and PTDs 
discharged during 2011-12 
and the previous four years. 
The figures for cases 
discharged indicate decreases 
of 28.3% for bankruptcies and 
26.5% for PTDs. 

For awards of bankruptcy 
from 1 April 2008, the 
time from award through 
to discharge has, in most 
instances, reduced to one 
year. This reduction in time, 

from award to discharge, is 
reflected above through the 
rise in discharges in 2009-10 
as this was the first year that 
one year discharge cases 
were processed. Although 
discharge may occur after one 
year, a discharged case may 
remain in administration for 
the purpose of ingathering 
contributions from a debtor 
for the benefit of creditors.

When the trustee in a 
bankruptcy or PTD case 

is discharged, any funds 
gathered in respect of 
debts are divided among 
the creditors depending on 
the type of debt included 
in the bankruptcy. Secured 
debt is voluntarily secured 
on property by creating a 
standard security over the 
property. Preferred debt is 
payable before other debts in 
a bankruptcy, trust deed, or 
the winding up of a company. 
It should be noted that 
revisions to the legislation 
in September 2003 removed 
the option for a preference to 
be noted on any debt other 
than secured debt. Ordinary 
debt is any other type that 
is not preferred or secured. 
The distribution of dividends 
payable at the conclusion of 
sequestration and PTD cases 
is detailed below.
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Bankruptcies awarded and concluded as at 31 March 2012 in terms 
of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985 and in dependence during 
the year ended 31 March 2012

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

In dependence at start of year (live cases) 22,750 28,194 -19.3%

New awards 11,056 11,443 -3.4%

Total cases in-year: 33,806 39,637 0.4%

Less:
(108) (119) -9.2%

Recalls/Disposals/Discharges
Bankruptcies concluded by discharge of                  
the permanent trustee in which:

   

 No dividend was payable to creditors (5,473) (8,464) -35.3%
 Dividend payable to preferred creditors only (5) (7) -28.6%
 Dividend payable to ordinary creditors (1,140) (1,419) -19.7%
Discharged LILA cases (5,488) (6,878) -20.2%

Total concluded: (12,106) (16,887) -28.3%

Cases in dependence at 31 March 21,700 22,750 -4.6%

Division of funds in bankuptcy in cases 2011-12

83%

17%

 

No dividend was 
payable to creditors

Dividend payable to 
ordinary creditors

The above details the 
bankruptcy awards concluded 
during 2011-12 and the 
dividend outcome of the 

discharged cases. There 
are six cases remaining in 
dependence not noted in these 
figures, which were awarded 

under the 1913 Bankruptcy 
Act with no obligation for 
the case to be discharged. 
Legislation requiring that 
discharge be applied for came 
in to force with the 1985 Act.

The figures show that 45.2% 
of cases discharged in 2011-12 
did not pay a dividend to 
creditors (2010-11 – 50.1%). 
For the year, in 9.4% of 
cases a dividend was paid to 
ordinary creditors (2010-11 – 
8.4%). 
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Results of bankruptcies wound up by division of funds following the 
trustee’s discharge during the year ended 31 March 2012

Dividend payable to: 2011-12 2010-11 % Change 

Preferred creditors only 5 7 -28.6%

Ordinary creditors:    
  Less than 25p per £ 490 608 -19.4%
  Between 25p and 50p per £ 173 211 -18.0%

  Between 50p and 75p per £ 82 130 -36.9%

  Between 75p and 99p per £ 76 103 -26.2%

  100p per £ plus interest 319 371 -14.0%

        Sub-Total: 1,140 1,423 -19.9%

Total: 1,145 1,430 -19.9%

The above shows details 
of cases wound up by the 
division of funds following a 
trustee’s discharge during 
2011-12. The figures show 

43.0% of dividends are paid 
at less than 25 pence in the 
pound (2010-11 – 43.0%) and 
28.0% paid at 100 pence in the 
pound (2010-11 – 26.0%).

The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
may not seek her appointment 
as trustee in sequestrations in 
Scotland, but by default, or 
specific nomination by 
creditors, she was appointed 
as trustee in 76% of 
bankruptcies awarded in 
Scotland in 2011-12. This 
appointment by default means 
that she is regularly appointed 
as trustee in bankruptcies 
where the debtor has few or 
no assets or income from 
which sufficient funds can be 
in-gathered to enable her to 
pay a dividend to creditors. 
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Dividends payable

Distribution of dividends payable in PTDs
concluded during 2010-2012
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Protected trust deeds registered and concluded as at 31 March 
2012 in terms of Schedule 5 of the Bankruptcy (Scotland) Act 1985

2011-12 2010-11 % Change
Number of protected trust deeds recorded in the 
Register of Insolvencies up to preceding 31 March

31,869 31,276 1.9%

PTDs registered during year 9,195 7,980 15.2%
Less concluded:    
   PTDs where no dividend payable to ordinary creditors (1,980) (2,678) -26.1%
   PTDs where dividend payable to ordinary creditors (3,448) (4,709) -26.8%
Total concluded: (5,428) (7,387) -26.5%
   PTDs remaining open on 31 March 35,636 31,869 11.8%

The table and graph above 
show the performance of 
PTDs detailing performance 
in relation to cases that have 
been discharged during 2011-
12 and in comparison to the 
previous year. For the year 

ending 31 March 2012, 36.5% 
of cases were closed with no 
dividend payable to creditors 
(2010-11 – 36.3%) and 63.5% 
with a dividend payable  
(2010-11 – 63.7%). 
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Comparison of dividend outcomes between private sector trustees 
and AiB when acting as trustee

Private sector trustees AiB as trustee 

2011-12 2010-11 2011-12 2010-11

Cases concluded by permanent 
trustee discharge 

1,559 1,329 5,059 8,680

Cases concluded with dividend 
payable to preferred or 
ordinary creditors

384 (25%) 364 (27%) 761 (15%) 1,062 (12%)

Cases concluded with no 
dividend to any class of creditor

1,175 (75%) 965 (73%) 4,297 (85%) 7,618 (88%)

Average dividend 27.2p in £ 52.7p in £ 36.9p in £ 56.5p in £

The above indicates the 
outcome of sequestration 
cases when the permanent 
trustee was discharged and 
the distribution of dividends 
payable to preferred or 
ordinary creditors. We have 

increased the percentage 
of cases where a dividend 
is payable to preferred and 
ordinary creditors in the last 
year. In both AiB and trustee 
cases the average dividend 
value has reduced in 2011-12, 

dividends will be effected by 
the realised value of assets 
which will in turn be effected 
by economic conditions. The 
AIB total does not include AIB 
cases.
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Protected trust deeds (PTDs) concluded during 2011-12 where a 
dividend is payable to ordinary creditors 

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Number of cases concluded where 
dividend is payable

3,448 4,709 -26.8%

 (£) (£)  
Total receipts 41,926,400 56,750,579 -26.1%
Administration expenses 22,125,856 29,497,011 -25.0%
Payable to creditors:    
    Secured creditors 1,947,305 1,573,757 23.7%
    Preferred creditors 17,268 125,491 -86.2%
    Ordinary creditors 17,835,971 25,554,320 -30.2%
Total sum payable to creditors 19,800,544 27,253,568 -27.3%
Total sum allocated 41,926,400 56,750,579 -26.1%

The above shows distribution 
of funds collated and allocated 
at the discharge of the trustee 
of a PTD. £41.9 million was 
ingathered during 2011-12 

a decrease of 26.1% on total 
receipts for the previous 
year. Of the total receipts 
52.8% was allocated towards 
administration costs a slight 

increase of 0.8% on the 
previous year. In 2010-11 the 
average administration costs 
of a PTD, which concluded 
with a dividend payable, was 
£6,263.96 rising to £6,417.01 
in 2011-12. Sums payable 
to creditors decreased by 
27.3% during 2011-12, this 
can largely be attributed to 
the fact that a significantly 
lower number of PTDs were 
discharged than in 2010-11.

PTDs concluded where dividend payable

90.1%

9.8%
0.1%

Secured creditors

Preferred creditors

Ordinary creditors
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PTDs concluded where no dividend payable 
to ordinary creditors 2011-12

97%

3%
Administration 
expenses

Secured creditors

Protected trust deeds (PTDs) concluded during 2011-12 with no 
payment of a dividend to ordinary creditors 

2011-12 2010-11 % Change
Number of cases concluded with no 
payment of a dividend to ordinary 
creditors 

1,980 2,678 -26.1%

 (£) (£)  
Total receipts 6,366,045 7,396,565 -13.9%
Administration expenses 6,177,531 7,124,287 -13.3%
Payments to creditors:    
    Secured creditors 188,014 269,429 -30.2%
    Preferred creditors 500 2,848 -82.4%
 Total payments to creditors 188,514 272,278 -30.8%
Total sum distributed 6,366,045 7,396,565 -13.9%

The above shows distribution 
of funds collated and allocated 
at the discharge of the trustee 
of a PTD, where no dividend 
was payable to ordinary 
creditors. £6.4 million was 
ingathered during 2011-12 in 
this type of case, a decrease 

of 13.9% on total receipts for 
the previous year. Of the total 
receipts 97% was allocated 
towards administration 
costs, which is a increase of 
0.7% on the previous year. 
Sums payable to secured 
and preferred creditors 

decreased by 30.8% during 
2011-12. In 2010-11 the 
average administration costs 
of a PTD, which concluded 
with no dividend payable, was 
£2,761.97 rising to £3,215.17 
in 2011-12.
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Year

Average PTD dividend payable 2007-2012
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Average dividend payable in protected trust deeds (PTDs) 
concluded during this year by cases where a dividend was paid 
(4,709 cases) 

Year Average dividend of protected trust deeds

2007-08 27.9p

2008-09 17.6p

2009-10 15.7p

2010-11 16.2p

2011-12 17.2p

Since 2007-08 the trend 
for dividends payable had 
decreased steadily from  
27.9 pence in the pound to 
15.7 pence in 2009-10. In 
2010-11 this dividend average 
increased marginally by 3.2% 
to 16.2 pence in the pound and 

the 2011-12 average dividend 
has increased by 6.2% to  
17.2 pence in the pound. 

It should be noted that not 
all dividends payable are 
paid directly to creditors 
when a case is concluded. 

For a variety of reasons a 
percentage of the dividends 
payable are consigned until 
further investigation can 
ensure accurate appropriate 
distribution of the dividend 
payment.

2007-08      2008-09        2009-10           2010-11               2011-12
Year
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Year

Net balance of funds consigned
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Balance of funds consigned

Year
Balance of funds consigned 

(£’000)
% Change

2006-07  8,501
2007-08 11,526 35.6%
2008-09 17,322 50.3%
2009-10 20,843 20.3%
2010-11 21,026  0.9%
2011-12 20,392 -3.0%

Consignations are unallocated 
funds at the end of a 
bankruptcy or a trust deed. 
These can be in the form of 
dividends that the trustee has 
been unable to pay to a 
creditor, funds that are due to 
be reverted to the debtor but 
the trustee has been unable to 
pay or in some trust deeds or 
bankruptcies there may have 
been such a small amount of 
funds ingathered that it is 
uneconomical to pay a 

dividend. These monies are 
consigned as an unapplied 
balance.

In 2009-10 we migrated the 
majority of our records onto 
our electronic case 
management system to 
improve identification of the 
ownership of these funds. So 
far we have made only limited 
progress in reducing the flow 
of consignations reaching  
the Agency, £3.2 million  

was received in 2011-12  
(£4.7 million – 2010-11).  
We will continue discussions 
with creditors and trustees  
to look at ways of further 
reducing the flow of 
consignations. Overall in 
2011-12 consignation 
balances fell by 3.0%, the first 
time in the Agency’s history 
that more has been uplifted 
than was consigned.

2006-07              2007-08            2008-09          2009-10        2010-11       2011-12              
Year
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Year

Liquidations and receiverships recorded in the ROI
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Liquidations and receiverships
Liquidation and receiverships recorded in the Register of Insolvencies

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Receiverships 35 56 -37.5%
Compulsory liquidations 1,013 733 38.2%
Creditors’ voluntary liquidations 321 321  0.0%
Total recorded receiverships and liquidations 1,369 1,110 23.3%

The above shows liquidation 
and receiverships recorded in 
the Register of Insolvencies 
during 2011-12 and the 
previous year. The table shows 
that there has been a drop on 

the number of receiverships. 
The total number of 
receiverships and liquidations 
has increased by 23.3% from 
1,110 in 2010-11 to 1,369 in 
the year ended 31 March 2012. 

The most notable increase 
is the rise of over 38% in 
compulsory liquidations from 
733 to 1,013 by the year end.
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Debt payment programmes approved
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Debt Arrangement Scheme (DAS)
Debt Arrangement Scheme debt payment programmes

2011-12 2010-11 % Change
Debt payment programme applications 
received

4,382 2,021 116.8%

Debt payment programmes rejected (1,032) (90) 1,046.7%
Debt payment programme awaiting decision (76) (21)  261.9%
Sub total 3,274 1,910 71.2%

Debt payment programmes approved 3,319* 1,910

Which includes:
Number of joint DPPs approved 492
Number of single DPPs approved 144
Total 3,319 1,910 73.8%
Completed debt payment programmes 16 35 -54.3%
Total value of debts included in debt payment 
programmes approved

£143,980,347 £43,085,316 234.2%

*includes 45 cases carried forward from 2010-11. 

The above details the DAS 
debt payment programme 
(DPP) applications in the year 
2011-12 and in comparison to 
the previous year. Applications 
for DPPs have risen by  

73.8% from 1,910 to 3,319. 
Debt included in DPPs  
has risen by 234.2% from 
£43.1 million to £144.0 million 
by 31 March 2012. The large 
increases in DPP applications 

and subsequent approvals  
are as a direct result of the 
Debt Arrangement Scheme 
(Scotland) Regulations 2011, 
which came into force on 
1 July 2011.
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Applications to vary a debt payment programme

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

 Number of applications rejected  30  53 -43.4%
 Number of applications approved 748 348 114.9%
Total 778 401 94.0%

The number of applications approved to vary a DPP has increased as a direct result of the large 
increase in participation in DAS during 2011-12.
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Applications to revoke a debt payment programme

2011-12 2010-11 % Change

Number of applications rejected 115  28 310.7%
Number of applications approved 297 157  89.2%
Total 412 185 122.7%

The tables above show the 
applications made to vary or 
revoke DPPs. There was a 
94.0% increase in applications 
to vary DPPs and an increase 
of 122.7% in applications 

to revoke DPPs, again 
these increases are directly 
attributable to increased 
participation in the Debt 
Arrangement Scheme.
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Debt payment programmes (DPPs) by Local Authority area in the 
year to 31 March 2012

Local Authority
Percentage of 

DPPs in 2011-12
Local Authority

DPPs per 10,000 
working age 

people in 2011-12
Fife 12.1% Inverclyde 19.6
North Lanarkshire  9.7% Fife 16.8
Glasgow City  8.8% West Dunbartonshire 16.3
South Lanarkshire  8.0% North Ayrshire 16.0
City of Edinburgh  4.7% North Lanarkshire 14.8
Renfrewshire  4.4% East Dunbartonshire 13.9
North Ayrshire  4.2% Renfrewshire 13.0
Aberdeenshire  3.7% South Lanarkshire 13.0
Falkirk  3.4% Dumfries & Galloway 11.2
Dumfries & Galloway  3.1% Falkirk 11.2
Inverclyde  3.1% East Lothian 11.0
Highland  3.0% Midlothian  9.8
West Dunbartonshire  3.0% East Ayrshire  9.5
East Dunbartonshire  2.8% East Renfrewshire  9.3
West Lothian  2.8% Stirling  9.1
Aberdeen City  2.7% Clackmannanshire  9.1
East Ayrshire  2.3% Angus  8.9
Perth & Kinross  2.1% Argyll & Bute  8.3
East Lothian  2.1% West Lothian  8.1
Angus  1.9% Moray  7.9
Stirling  1.6% Aberdeenshire  7.6
East Renfrewshire  1.6% Perth & Kinross  7.5
Midlothian  1.6% Eilean Siar  7.5
Argyll & Bute  1.4% Highland  7.0
Moray  1.3% Glasgow City  6.9
Dundee City  1.3% Aberdeen City  5.8
Scottish Borders  1.1% Scottish Borders  5.0
Clackmannanshire  0.9% City of Edinburgh  4.4
South Ayrshire  0.9% Dundee City  4.3
Eilean Siar  0.4% South Ayrshire  4.3
Orkney Islands  0.1% Orkney Islands  3.2
Shetland Islands  0.1% Shetland Islands  2.8

By using the postcode 
information recorded for each 
debt payment programme 
(DPP), 99.0% of all DPPs 
in 2011-12 were able to be 
matched to a Local Authority 
area. As with bankruptcy 

awards and protected trust 
deeds registered, the Local 
Authorities with higher 
populations feature at or near 
the top of the percentage 
table. Again by establishing 
the working age population 
of each Local Authority, the 

number of DPPs registered 
per 10,000 working age people 
can be estimated. Working 
age population estimates for 
each Local Authority are taken 
from the most recent National 
Records of Scotland mid-year 
estimates.
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DAS DPPs in 2011/12, per 10,000 working age people
DAS DPPs

1 Aberdeen City 5.7
2 Aberdeenshire 7.6
3 Angus 8.9
4 Argyll & Bute 8.3
5 Clackmannanshire 9.1
6 Dumfries & Galloway 11.3
7 Dundee City 4.4
8 East Ayrshire 9.5
9 East Dunbartonshire 14.0

10 East Lothian 10.9
11 East Renfrewshire 9.3
12 Edinburgh, City of 4.4
13 Eilean Siar 7.5
14 Falkirk 11.1
15 Fife 16.8
16 Glasgow City 6.8
17 Highland 7.0
18 Inverclyde 19.8
19 Midlothian 9.7
20 Moray 8.0
21 North Ayrshire 16.0
22 North Lanarkshire 14.8
23 Orkney Islands 3.1
24 Perth & Kinross 7.4
25 Renfrewshire 13.0
26 Scottish Borders 5.0
27 Shetland Islands 2.8
28 South Ayrshire 4.3
29 South Lanarkshire 13.0
30 Stirling 9.0
31 West Dunbartonshire 16.4
32 West Lothian 8.1

DAS DPPs per 10,000 
working age people 
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Remuneration policy
The remuneration of all the Agency’s management and employees 
is set by the Scottish Government under its standard terms and 
conditions of employment. 

Service contracts 
The Constitutional Reform and 
Governance Act 2010 require 
Civil Service appointments to 
be made on merit on the basis 
of fair and open competition. 
The Recruitment Principles 
published by the Civil 
Service Commission specify 
the circumstances when 
appointments may be made 
otherwise.

Unless otherwise stated 
below, the officials covered by 
this report hold appointments 
which are open-ended. Early 
termination, other than for 
misconduct, would result 
in the individual receiving 
compensation as set out in the 
Civil Service Compensation 
Scheme.

Further information about 
the work of the Civil Service 
Commission can be found at  
www.civilservicecommission.
org.uk

Remuneration 
(including salary) 
and pension 
entitlements 
The following sections provide 
details of the remuneration 
and pension interests of the 
most senior management 
(i.e. Board members) of the 
Agency. These following 
sections of the remuneration 
report are subject to audit.

Remuneration report

http://www.civilservicecommission.org.uk
http://www.civilservicecommission.org.uk
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48

Remuneration

2011-12 2011-12 2010-11 2010-11

Salary

£’000

Bonus

£’000

Salary

£’000

Bonus

£’000
Rosemary Winter-Scott 
Chief Executive

70-75 - 70-75 0-5

David Wallace1

Head of Corporate Services
50-55 - 50-55 0-5

Claire Orr2

Head of Policy and Compliance
55-60 -

30-35 
(50-55 

full year 
equivalent)

-

John Cook
Head of Case Operations

40-45 - 40-45 -

Fiona Gavine 
Non Executive Board Member

5-10 - 5-10 -

Stuart Muir3

Non Executive Board Member
- - 0-5 -

Frank Shennan4

Non Executive Board Member
0-59 - 0-5 -

Bryan Jackson5

Non Executive Board Member
0-59 - 0-5 -

Yvonne MacDermid6

Non Executive Board Member
0-59 - 0-5 -

Donna McKenzie-Skene7

Non Executive Board Member
0-59 - - -

Jeremy Brettell8

Non Executive Board Member
0-59 - - -

1 David Wallace left the Agency and the Board on 31 March 2012
2 Claire Orr joined the Agency and the Board on 30 August 2010
3 Stuart Muir’s period of tenure as Non Executive Board Member ended 31 March 2011 and he relinquished his position.
4 Frank Shennan joined the Agency as Non Executive Board Member on 1 December 2010 and left the Agency and the Board on 

3 October 2011
5 Bryan Jackson joined the Agency as Non Executive Board Member on 1 December 2010 and left the Agency and the Board on 

14 June 2011
6 Yvonne MacDermid joined the Agency as Non Executive Board Member on 17 February 2011
7 Donna McKenzie-Skene joined the Agency as Non Executive Board Member on 1 August 2011
8 Jeremy Brettell joined the Agency as Non Executive Board Member on 16 March 2012
9 The full year equivalent salary for all Non Executive Board Members who joined or left the Board in 2011-12 was £0-5k
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Salary  
‘Salary’ includes gross 
salary; overtime; and any 
other allowance to the 
extent that it is subject to UK 
taxation. This report is based 
on payments made within 
the year by the Agency.

Benefits in kind  
There were no benefits in 
kind within 2011-12 (2010-11 
– £nil).

Bonuses
Bonuses are based on 
performance levels attained 
and are made as part of the 
appraisal process. Bonuses 
relate to the performance 
in the year in which they 
become payable to the 
individual. The Scottish 
Government removed the 
ability for staff to receive a 
performance related bonus 
in 2011-12

Date of 
Appointment

Contract End 
Date

Fiona Gavine 1 April 2007 1 December 2013

Yvonne MacDermid 17 February 2011 16 February 2014

Donna  
McKenzie-Skene

1 August 2011 31 July 2014

Jeremy Brettell 16 March 2012 15 March 2015

Where a Non Executive Board Member wishes to terminate 
their appointment prior to their contract end date then they  
are required to give notice in writing, three months prior to  
the intended date of termination.

Non Executive Board 
Members
Non Executive Board 
Members are not salaried 
employees, but receive a 
day rate for attendance at 
Board and Audit Committee 
meetings.

Non Executive Board 
Members do not hold open- 
ended appointments. For Non 
Executive Members in post at 
31 March 2012, appointment 
date and contract end dates 
are as follows:
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Registers of interest
A Register of Interests of 
Executive and Non Executive 
Board Members is held 
centrally and is reviewed 
regularly with the opportunity 
for updates at each Board 
meeting.

Pay multiples
In accordance with the FReM, 
reporting bodies are required 
to disclose the relationship 
between the remuneration 
of the highest-paid director 
in their organisation and the 
median remuneration of the 
organisation’s workforce. 

The banded remuneration of 
the highest-paid director in 
the Agency in the financial 
year 2011-12 was £72,500 
(2010-11 £72,500). This was 
4.1 times (2010-11 4.1) the 
median remuneration of the 
workforce, which was £17,882 
(2010-11 £17,632).

Total remuneration includes 
salary, non-consolidated 
performance-related pay, 
and benefits in kind. It does 
not include employer pension 
contributions and the cash 
equivalent transfer value of 
pensions.

Pension benefits
Cash Equivalent 
Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer 
Value (CETV) is the actuarially 
assessed capitalised value of 
the pension scheme benefits 
accrued by a member at 
a particular point in time. 
The benefits valued are the 
member’s accrued benefits 
and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from 
the scheme. A CETV is a 
payment made by a pension 
scheme or arrangement to 
secure pension benefits in 
another pension scheme 
or arrangement when the 
member leaves a scheme 
and chooses to transfer the 
benefits accrued in their 
former scheme. The pension 
figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the individual has 
accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the 
pension scheme, not just their 
service in a senior capacity to 
which disclosure applies. 

The figures include the 
value of any pension benefit 
in another scheme or 
arrangement which the 
member has transferred 

to the Civil Service pension 
arrangements. They also 
include any additional 
pension benefit accrued 
to the member as a result 
of their buying additional 
pension benefits at their 
own cost. CETVs are worked 
out in accordance with 
The Occupational Pension 
Schemes (Transfer Values) 
(Amendment) Regulations 
2008 and do not take account 
of any actual or potential 
reduction to benefits resulting 
from Lifetime Allowance 
Tax which may be due when 
pension benefits are taken.

Real increase in 
CETV
This reflects the increase in 
CETV that is funded by the 
employer. It does not include 
the increase in accrued 
pension due to inflation, 
contributions paid by the 
employee (including the value 
of any benefits transferred 
from another pension scheme 
or arrangement) and uses 
common market valuation 
factors for the start and end of 
the period.
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Pension benefits

Accrued pension 
at pension age 

as at 31/3/12 and 
related lump sum

Real increase 
in pension and 

related lump sum 
at pension age

CETV at 
3/3/12

CETV at 
31/3/111

Real 
increase in 

CETV

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Rosemary
Winter-Scott

10-15
no lump sum

0-2.5
no lump sum

178 149 14

David Wallace
10-15

plus lump sum of
35-40

0-2.5
plus lump sum of

0-2.5
178 155 9

John Cook
15-20

plus lump sum of
25-30

0-2.5
no increase in 

lump sum
219 194 7

Claire Orr
15-20

plus lump sum of
45-50

0-2.5
plus lump sum of

0-2.5
221 195 9

Civil Service 
pensions
Pension benefits are provided 
through the Civil Service 
pension arrangements. From 
30 July 2007, civil servants 
may be in one of four defined 
benefit schemes; either a 
final salary scheme (classic, 
premium or classic plus); or a 
whole career scheme (nuvos). 

These statutory arrangements 
are unfunded with the cost 
of benefits met by monies 
voted by Parliament each 
year. Pensions payable under 
classic, premium, classic 
plus and nuvos are increased 
annually in line with Pensions 
Increase legislation. Members 
joining from October 2002 may 
opt for either the appropriate 

defined benefit arrangement 
or a ‘money purchase’ 
stakeholder pension with 
an employer contribution 
(partnership pension 
account).

Employee contributions 
are set at the rate of 1.5% 
of pensionable earnings 
for classic and 3.5% for 

1  The actuarial factors used to calculate CETVs were changed in 2011-12. The CETVs at 31/3/11 and 31/3/12 have 
both been calculated using the new factors, for consistency. The CETV at 31/3/11 therefore differs from the 
corresponding figure in last year’s report which was calculated using the previous factors.
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premium, classic plus and 
nuvos. Increases to employee 
contributions will apply from 
1 April 2012. Benefits in 
classic accrue at the rate of 
1/80th of final pensionable 
earnings for each year of 
service. In addition, a lump 
sum equivalent to three years 
initial pension is payable on 
retirement. For premium, 
benefits accrue at the rate of 
1/60th of final pensionable 
earnings for each year of 
service. Unlike classic, there 
is no automatic lump sum. 
classic plus is essentially 
a hybrid with benefits for 
service before 1 October 
2002 calculated broadly as 
per classic and benefits for 
service from October 2002 
worked out as in premium. 
In nuvos a member builds 
up a pension based on his 
pensionable earnings during 
their period of scheme 
membership. At the end of 
the scheme year (31 March) 
the member’s earned pension 
account is credited with 2.3% 
of their pensionable earnings 

in that scheme year and the 
accrued pension is uprated in 
line with Pensions Increase 
legislation. In all cases 
members may opt to give up 
(commute) pension for a lump 
sum up to the limits set by the 
Finance Act 2004.

The partnership pension 
account is a stakeholder 
pension arrangement. The 
employer makes a basic 
contribution of between 3% 
and 12.5% (depending on the 
age of the member) into a 
stakeholder pension product 
chosen by the employee from 
a panel of three providers. 
The employee does not have 
to contribute, but where they 
do make contributions, the 
employer will match these up 
to a limit of 3% of pensionable 
salary (in addition to the 
employer’s basic contribution). 
Employers also contribute a 
further 0.8% of pensionable 
salary to cover the cost of 
centrally-provided risk benefit 
cover (death in service and ill 
health retirement).

The accrued pension quoted 
is the pension the member 
is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or 
immediately on ceasing to 
be an active member of the 
scheme if they are already at 
or over pension age. Pension 
age is 60 for members of 
classic, premium and classic 
plus and 65 for members of 
nuvos.

Further details about the Civil 
Service pension arrangements 
can be found at the website 
http://www.civilservice.gov.
uk/pensions 

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable Officer

1 August 2012 

http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions
http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions
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Under section 19(4) of 
the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 
2000, the Scottish Ministers 
have directed Accountant 
in Bankruptcy to prepare 
for each financial year a 
statement of accounts in the 
form and on the basis set out 
in the Accounts Direction on 
page 90. The accounts are 
prepared on an accruals basis 
and must give a true and fair 
view of the state of affairs of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy and 
of its income and expenditure, 
changes in taxpayers’ equity 
and cash flows for the 
financial year. 

In preparing the accounts, the 
Chief Executive is required to 
comply with the requirements 

of the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual and in 
particular to: 

• observe the Accounts 
Direction issued by 
the Scottish Ministers, 
including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure 
requirements, and apply 
suitable accounting policies 
on a consistent basis 

• make judgements and 
estimates on a reasonable 
basis 

• state whether applicable 
accounting standards as 
set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual 
have been followed, and 
disclose and explain any 
material departures in the 
financial statements and 

• prepare the financial 
statements on a going 
concern basis. 

The Principal Accountable 
Officer of the Scottish 
Government has designated 
the Chief Executive as 
Accountable Officer of 
Accountant in Bankruptcy. 
The responsibilities of 
an Accountable Officer, 
including responsibility for 
the propriety and regularity 
of the public finances for 
which the Accountable Officer 
is answerable, for keeping 
proper records and for 
safeguarding Accountant in 
Bankruptcy’s assets, are set 
out in the Memorandum to 
Accountable Officers’ issued 
by the Scottish Ministers. 

Statement of the Chief Executive’s 
responsibilities
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Scope of 
responsibility
As Accountable Officer, 
I have responsibility for 
maintaining a sound system 
of risk management and 
internal control. This system 
supports the achievement of 
the organisation’s policies, 
aims and objectives set by 
the Scottish Ministers, whilst 
safeguarding the public funds 
and assets for which I am 
personally responsible. These 
personal responsibilities are 
assigned to me as agreed 
by the Director General 
Enterprise, Environment  
and Digital.

In the discharge of my 
personal responsibilities 
I ensure organisational 
compliance with the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual. The 
SPFM is issued by the Scottish 
Ministers to provide guidance 
to the Scottish Government 
and other relevant bodies 
on the proper handling and 
reporting of public funds. 
It sets out the relevant 
statutory, parliamentary and 

administrative requirements, 
emphasises the need for 
economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness, and promotes 
good practice and high 
standards of propriety.

Governance 
framework
In my role as Chief Executive, 
I am supported by a number 
of Non Executive Board 
Members and internal 
Executive Directors who 
together form the Board. 
The role of the Board is to 
provide strategic leadership, 
direction, support and 
guidance for the Agency and 
promote commitment to its 
core values, policies and 
objectives. The Board also has 
responsibility for overseeing 
the work of the Agency. 
The Board, which meets on a 
monthly basis, is supported 
by two sub committees which 
meet at least quarterly. These 
sub committees are:

• The Audit Committee, 
responsible for overseeing 
and reviewing the risk, 
control and governance 

processes that have 
been established and the 
associated assurance 
processes, through 
constructive challenge.

• The Policy and Cases 
Committee, responsible for 
providing the Accountant 
in Bankruptcy with advice 
on challenging cases and 
policy issues.

In addition to the above, 
quarterly meetings were held 
throughout the year with our 
‘Fraser Figure’; the Director 
of Business at the Scottish 
Government who facilitates 
relations between the Agency 
and the Scottish Government. 

Risk assessment
All bodies to which the SPFM 
is directly applicable must 
operate a risk management 
strategy in accordance with 
relevant guidance issued 
by the Scottish Ministers. 
The general principles for a 
successful risk management 
strategy are set out in the 
SPFM.

Governance statement
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The Agency follows Scottish 
Government policy on 
Information Security and has 
a Senior Information Risk 
Owner (SIRO) along with 
Information Asset Owners 
in place to manage risk to 
information. There was one 
personal data related incident 
in 2011-12, this minor incident 
was not considered significant 
enough to be reported to 
the Scottish Information 
Commissioner (2010-11 – nil).

The Agency maintains a 
corporate risk register which 
records internal and external 
risks and identifies the 
mitigating actions required 
to reduce the threat of 
these risks occurring and 
their impact. The corporate 
register is regularly updated 
and reviewed at quarterly 
meetings between all 
operational risk register 
owners. Each individual risk 
is allocated an owner who will 
ensure that any mitigating 
action is carried out. 

Project risk registers are also 
used for specific projects 
as a management control 
tool to ensure a successful 
outcome. These provide a 
mechanism to report risks 
to the project management 
board for assessment and to 
escalate high level risks to 
senior management to take 
preventative action.

For the year to 31 March 2012, 
the following risk was newly 
identified for inclusion on 
the Agency’s corporate risk 
register:

• Possible reputation and 
budget impact due to a 
failure to comply with 
procedures where the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
is the trustee.

Appropriate actions are being 
taken to treat this new risk 
along with all other risks 
where the system of risk 
management has identified 
that treatment is required. 

Risk and control 
framework
The Agency’s risk and control 
mechanism is based on an 
ongoing process designed 
to identify the principal risks 
to the achievement of the 
organisation’s policies, aims 
and objectives; to evaluate 
the nature and extent of those 
risks and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and 
economically.

The process within the 
organisation accords with 
guidance from the Scottish 
Ministers provided in the 
SPFM and has been in place 
for the year ended 31 March 
2012 and up to the date of 
approval of the annual report 
and accounts. 

I have continually reviewed 
our capacity to manage risks 
during the course of the year. 
To deliver the Agency’s aims 
and objectives the Board 
met regularly to assess and 
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manage the risks identified in 
the strategic risk register. The 
Audit Committee, chaired by 
an independent Non Executive 
Board Member, takes the 
lead role in ensuring the 
risk management strategy is 
functioning adequately.

More generally, Accountant 
in Bankruptcy is committed 
to a process of continuous 
development and 
improvement: developing 
systems in response to 
any relevant reviews and 
developments in best practice 
in this area. In particular, in 
the period covering the year 
to 31 March and up to the 
signing of the accounts the 
Agency has:

• Improved the system of 
budgetary control and 
financial monitoring for 
the Agency, allowing for 
better control over levels of 
income and expenditure. 

• Implemented a new 
electronic purchase 
ordering system to improve 
both efficiency and control.

• Continued to develop 
an Operational Policy 
& Compliance team 
within the organisation. 
This team ensures that 
the implementation of 
legislation is carried out 
within the agency both 
efficiently and accurately. 
This team also provides 
quality assurance on cases 
managed internally.

Review of 
effectiveness 
As Accountable Officer, I have 
responsibility for reviewing the 
effectiveness of the risk and 
control framework. My review 
is informed by:

• the business managers 
within the organisation 
who have responsibility 
for the development and 
maintenance of the risk 
and control framework 

• the work of the internal 
auditors of the Scottish 
Government’s Finance 
Directorate, who submit 

regular reports to the 
Agency’s Audit Committee. 
These reports provide 
independent and objective 
opinion on the adequacy 
and effectiveness of the 
Agency’s systems of risk 
management and internal 
control together with 
recommendations for 
improvement 

• comments made by 
Audit Scotland in their 
management letters and 
other reports

• the annual report provided 
to me by the Chair of the 
Audit Committee, detailing 
the work of that committee 
during the year and

• information provided by the 
core financial systems of 
the Scottish Government 
which the Agency uses 
and relies on to carry out 
our own accounting and 
payment functions and 
some of our procurement 
of goods and services.
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The risk and control 
framework is designed to 
manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve 
the organisation’s policies, 
aims and objectives. It 
can therefore only provide 
reasonable and not absolute 
assurance of effectiveness.

My review of the effectiveness 
of the risk and control system, 
and the cycle of continuous 
improvement at the Agency, 
has previously identified 

that the electronic banking 
interface in use by the Agency 
requires to be replaced. The 
current electronic banking 
interface suffers from a 
number of weaknesses in 
system controls which cannot 
be resolved due to the age 
of the system. Mitigating 
controls are in place and 
work on a replacement 
system has been ongoing 
throughout 2011-12. The new 
system brings in substantially 
improved controls and has the 

potential to bring increased 
efficiency to the Agency’s 
banking processes. The new 
electronic banking interface is 
due to go live during 2012-13.

Rosemary Winter-Scott
The Accountant in Bankruptcy 
and Agency Chief Executive

1 August 2012 
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I have audited the financial 
statements of Accountant in 
Bankruptcy for the year ended 
31 March 2012 under the 
Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 
2000. The financial statements 
comprise of the Statement of 
Financial Position, the 
Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure, the 
Statement of Cash Flows, the 
Statement of Changes in 
Taxpayers’ Equity and the 
related notes. The financial 
reporting framework that has 
been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European 
Union, and as interpreted and 
adapted by the 2011-12 
Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (the  
2011-12 FReM). 

This report is made solely 
to the parties to whom it is 

Independent auditor’s report to Accountant in Bankruptcy, the 
Auditor General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament 

addressed in accordance 
with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and for no other 
purpose. In accordance with 
paragraph 125 of the Code of 
Audit Practice approved by the 
Auditor General for Scotland, 
I do not undertake to have 
responsibilities to members 
or officers, in their individual 
capacities, or to third parties. 

Respective 
responsibilities of 
Accountable Officer 
and auditor 
As explained more fully in 
the Statement of the Chief 
Executive’s Responsibilities, 
the Accountable Officer 
is responsible for the 
preparation of the financial 
statements and for being 
satisfied that they give a true 
and fair view, and is also 
responsible for ensuring the 
regularity of expenditure and 

income. My responsibility 
is to audit and express an 
opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance 
with applicable law and 
International Standards on 
Auditing (UK and Ireland) as 
required by the Code of Audit 
Practice approved by the 
Auditor General for Scotland. 
Those standards require me 
to comply with the Auditing 
Practices Board’s Ethical 
Standards for Auditors. I am 
also responsible for giving an 
opinion on the regularity of 
expenditure and income. 

Scope of the audit 
of the financial 
statements 
An audit involves obtaining 
evidence about the amounts, 
disclosures, and regularity of 
expenditure and income in the 
financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance 
that the financial statements 

Independent auditor’s report
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are free from material 
misstatement, whether 
caused by fraud or error. 
This includes an assessment 
of: whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to 
the body’s circumstances and 
have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates 
made by the Accountable 
Officer; and the overall 
presentation of the financial 
statements. In addition, I 
read all the financial and 
non-financial information in 
the annual report to identify 
material inconsistencies 
with the audited financial 
statements. If I become 
aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or 
inconsistencies I consider the 
implications for my report. 

Opinion on financial 
statements 
In my opinion the financial 
statements: 

• give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Public 
Finance and Accountability 

(Scotland) Act 2000 and 
directions made thereunder 
by the Scottish Ministers 
of the state of the body’s 
affairs as at 31 March 2012 
and of its net operating cost 
for the year then ended 

• have been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union, as 
interpreted and adapted by 
the 2011-12 FReM  

• have been prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 and 
directions made thereunder 
by the Scottish Ministers. 

Opinion on regularity 
In my opinion in all material 
respects: 

• the expenditure and income 
in the financial statements 
were incurred or applied 
in accordance with any 
applicable enactments 
and guidance issued by 
the Scottish Ministers, 
the Budget (Scotland) 
Act covering the financial 

year and sections 4 to 7 
of the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and 

• the sums paid out of the 
Scottish Consolidated Fund 
for the purpose of meeting 
the expenditure shown in 
the financial statements 
were applied in accordance 
with section 65 of the 
Scotland Act 1998. 

Opinion on other 
prescribed matters 
In my opinion: 

• the part of the 
Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly 
prepared in accordance 
with the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000 and directions 
made thereunder by the 
Scottish Ministers  

• the information given in the 
Management Commentary 
for the financial year 
for which the financial 
statements are prepared 
is consistent with the 
financial statements. 
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Matters on which I 
am required to 
report by exception 
I am required to report to you 
if, in my opinion: 

• adequate accounting 
records have not been kept 
or 

• the financial statements 
and the part of the 

Remuneration Report 
to be audited are not 
in agreement with the 
accounting records or 

• I have not received all 
the information and 
explanations I require for 
my audit or 

• the Governance Statement 
does not comply with 
guidance from the Scottish 
Ministers. 

I have nothing to report in 
respect of these matters.

Asif A Haseeb
Audit Scotland
7th Floor Plaza Tower
East Kilbride
G74 1LW
1 August 2012
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Statement of comprehensive net expenditure for the year ended 
31 March 2012

2011-12 2010-11
Note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Programme Costs

Expenditure
Staff Costs 2 4,408 4,219
Other Operating Costs 3 1,875 1,975
Direct Sequestration Costs 3 5,231 5,085
Non Cash Expenditure 3 532 491

Total Expenditure 12,046 11,770

Total Operating Income 4 (9,275) (9,985)

Net Operating Cost 2,771 1,785

Other Comprehensive Expenditure

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of 
Property Plant and Equipment

5 (18) (52)

Total Comprehensive Expenditure 2,753 1,733

All income and expenditure is derived from continuing operations. There were no discontinued 
activities. There were no material acquisitions or disposals in the year.

Accountant in Bankruptcy
Annual Accounts 2011-12
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Statement of changes in taxpayers’ equity for the year ended 
31 March 2012

 

Note

General 
Fund
£’000

Revaluation 
Reserve

£’000

 
Total
£’000

Balance at 1 April 2011 1,353 101 1,454
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2011-12   

Net gain on revaluation/indexation of  
property, plant and equipment

5 - 18 18

Non cash charges – auditor’s remuneration 3 43 - 43
Net operating cost for the year (2,771) - (2,771)
Adjustment* 16 - 16
Parliamentary Funding 2,439 - 2,439
Balance at 31 March 2012 1,080 119 1,199

*  The adjustment to the General Fund is in respect of a Tangible Non Current Asset written off in 
a prior year when the Asset is still in use.
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Statement of financial position as at 31 March 2012

Note

31 March  
2012

£’000

31 March
2011

£’000
Non-Current Assets   
Property Plant & Equipment 5 514 645
Intangible Assets 6 578 640
Total Non-Current Assets 1,092 1,285
Current Assets
Trade Receivables and Other Current Assets 7 1,099 1,114
Cash and Cash Equivalents 8 996 1,189
Total Current Assets 2,095 2,303
Total Assets 3,187 3,588
Current Liabilities
Payables and Other Current Liabilities
Provisions for Liabilities and Charges

9
12

(1,736)
(11)

(1,865)
-

Total Current Liabilities (1,747) (1,865)
Total Assets less Current Liabilities 1,440 1,723
Non-Current Liabilities
Provisions for Liabilities and Charges 12 (14) (25)
Other Liabilities 9 (227) (244)
Total Non-Current Liabilities (241) (269)
Assets less Liabilities 1,199 1,454
Taxpayers’ Equity
General Fund SOCTE 1,080 1,353
Revaluation Reserve SOCTE 119 101
Total Taxpayers’ Equity 1,199 1,454

Rosemary Winter-Scott
Accountable Officer

1 August 2012 

file:///C:\Documents and Settings\u205630\Application Data\Objective\Objects\R48676.xls#Note11CashCashEquivalent!A1#Note11CashCashEquivalent!A1


64

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-12

Statement of cash flows for the year ended  
31 March 2012

2011-12 2010-11
Note £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Net operating cost (2,771) (1,785)
Adjustments for non-cash transactions 3 532 491
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 10 15 (79)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 10 (129) (406)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 12 - 25

Net cash outflow from operating activities (2,353) (1,754)

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment* 5 (18) (31)
Purchase of intangible assets 6 (261) (215)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (279) (246)

Cash flows from financing activities
From Scottish Consolidated Fund SOCTE 2,439 2,221
Net Financing

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
(193) 221

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 8 1,189 968
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 8 996 1,189

*  Purchase of property plant and equipment was overstated by £18k in 2010-11 – this 
overstatement has been reversed in 2011-12.
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1. Accounting 
policies
1.1 Authority
In accordance with the 
accounts direction issued 
by Scottish Ministers under 
section 19(4) of the Public 
Finance and Accountability 
(Scotland) Act 2000 these 
accounts have been 
prepared in compliance 
with the principles and 
disclosure requirements of 
the Government Financial 
Reporting Manual (FReM) 
issued by HM Treasury, 
which follows International 
Financial Reporting Standards 
as adopted by the European 
Union (IFRSs as adopted 
by the EU), International 
Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) interpretations and 
the Companies Act 2006 
to the extent that they are 
meaningful and appropriate 
in the public sector. They have 
been applied consistently in 
dealing with items considered 

material in relation to the 
accounts.

The preparation of financial 
statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use 
of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise 
judgement in the process 
of applying the accounting 
policies. The accounts 
policies, and where necessary 
estimation techniques, 
selected are done so in 
accordance with the principles 
set out in International 
Accounting Standard 8: 
Accounting Policies, Changes 
in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors. 

1.2 Accounting 
convention
These accounts are prepared 
on a historical cost basis, as 
modified by the revaluation 
of property, plant and 
equipment, intangible assets 
and financial assets and 
liabilities at fair value.

1.3  Property, plant and 
equipment 

Recognition

Property, plant and equipment 
is capitalised where:

• it is held for use in 
delivering services or for 
administrative purposes 

• it is probable that future 
economic benefit will flow 
to, or service potential be 
provided to, the Agency 

• it is expected to be used 
for more than one financial 
year and

• the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably.

All assets falling into the 
following categories are 
capitalised:

• Equipment and vehicles 
which are capable of being 
used for a period which 
could exceed one year, 
and have a cost equal to or 
greater than £5,000.

Notes to the accounts

Accountant in Bankruptcy 
Annual Accounts 2011-12



66

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-12

66

• Information and 
Communications 
Technology (ICT) systems 
are capitalised where they 
form part of a group of 
similar assets purchased 
at approximately the same 
time and cost over £1,000 in 
total.

• Significant improvements 
to leasehold properties will 
be capitalised where the 
total cost of the group of 
assets is equal to or over 
£5,000. 

Expenditure on furniture, 
fixtures and fittings is 
charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure in the year the 
cost is incurred and is not 
capitalised.

Where a large asset, for 
example a building, includes  
a number of components  
with significantly different 
asset lives, e.g. plant and 
equipment, then these 
components are treated  
as separate assets and 
depreciated over their own 
useful economic lives.

Measurement

Valuation

All property, plant and 
equipment assets are 
measured initially at cost, 
representing the costs directly 
attributable to acquiring or 
constructing the asset and 
bringing it to the location 
and condition necessary for 
it to be capable of operating 
in the manner intended by 
management.

All assets are measured 
subsequently at fair value as 
follows:

• Valuation of all land and 
buildings are reassessed 
by valuers under a rolling 
five-year programme of 
professional valuations 
and adjusted in intervening 
years to take account of 
movements in prices since 
the latest valuation. 

• These valuations are 
carried out in accordance 
with the Royal Institute of 
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Appraisal and Valuation 

Manual insofar as these 
terms are consistent with 
the agreed requirements of 
the Scottish Government.

• The value of leasehold 
improvements are adjusted 
annually to take account of 
movements in prices since 
the date of purchase. 

Other plant and equipment 
assets that have short useful 
lives or low values (or both) 
are reported on a depreciated 
historic cost basis as a proxy 
for fair value. 

Assets under construction are 
valued at current cost. This is 
calculated by the expenditure 
incurred to which an 
appropriate index is applied to 
arrive at current value. Assets 
under construction are also 
subject to impairment review.
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Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is 
capitalised into an asset’s 
carrying value where it is 
probable the future economic 
benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Agency 
and the cost can be reliably 
measured. Where subsequent 
expenditure does not meet 
these criteria, the expenditure 
is charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure. If part of an asset 
is replaced, then the part it 
replaces is de-recognised, 
regardless of whether or 
not it has been depreciated 
separately. 

Revaluations and impairment

Increases in asset values 
arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they 
reverse an impairment 
previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure, in which 
case they are recognised as 
income. 

Movements on revaluation 
are considered for individual 
assets rather than groups or 
land/buildings together.

Decreases in asset values 
and impairments are charged 
to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset 
concerned and thereafter 
are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

Depreciation

Items of property, plant and 
equipment are depreciated 
to their estimated residual 
value over their remaining 
useful economic lives in a 
manner consistent with the 
consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits.

Depreciation is charged on 
a straight line basis on each 
main class of property, plant 
and equipment as follows:

Equipment 
– non fixed 
plant

3 to 10 years

ICT 
equipment

3 years

Leasehold 
improve- 
ments

10 years or 
life of lease 
term if 
shorter

Held for sale 
assets

Not 
depreciated

Assets under 
construction

Not 
depreciated

1.4  Intangible assets

Recognition

Intangible assets are non-
monetary assets without 
physical substance which 
are capable of being sold 
separately from the rest of the 
Agency’s business or which 
arise from contractual or 
other legal rights. They are 
recognised only where it is 
probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to, or service 
potential be provided to, the 
Agency and where the cost of 
the asset can be measured 
reliably. 
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Intangible assets that meet 
the recognition criteria are 
capitalised where they are 
capable of being used in the 
Agency’s activities for more 
than one year and they have a 
cost of at least £1,000.

The Agency’s main class of 
capitalised intangible assets 
are internally generated 
intangible assets. Internally 
generated goodwill, brands, 
mastheads, publishing titles, 
customer lists and similar 
items are not capitalised as 
intangible assets. Expenditure 
on research is not capitalised.

Expenditure on development 
is capitalised only where 
all of the following can be 
demonstrated:

• The project is technically 
feasible to the point of 
completion and will result 
in an intangible asset for 
sale or use.

• The Agency intends to 
complete the asset and sell 
or use it.

• The Agency has the ability 
to sell or use the asset.

• How the intangible asset 
will generate probable 
future economic or service 
delivery benefits, e.g. the 
presence of a market for it 
or its output, or where it is 
to be used for internal use, 
the usefulness of the asset.

• Adequate financial, 
technical and other 
resources are available to 
the Agency to complete the 
development and sell or 
use the asset.

• The Agency can measure 
reliably the expenses 
attributable to the asset 
during development.

Expenditure capitalised in line 
with the above is limited to 
the value of probable future 
economic benefits.

Measurement

Valuation

Intangible assets are 
recognised initially at cost, 
comprising all directly 
attributable costs needed to 
create, produce and prepare 
the asset to the point that 
it is capable of operating 
in the manner intended by 
management.

Subsequently intangible 
assets are measured at 
fair value. Where an active 
(homogeneous) market 
exists, intangible assets are 
carried at fair value. Where 
no active market exists, the 
intangible asset is revalued, 
using indices or some 
suitable model, to the lower of 
depreciated replacement cost 
and the value in use where the 
asset is income generating. 
Where there is no value in 
use, the intangible asset is 
valued using depreciated 
replacement cost. These 
measures are a proxy for  
fair value.
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Revaluations and impairment

Increases in asset values 
arising from revaluations are 
recognised in the revaluation 
reserve, except where they 
reverse an impairment 
previously recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure, in which 
case they are recognised as 
income. 

Decreases in asset values 
and impairments are charged 
to the revaluation reserve to 
the extent that there is an 
available balance for the asset 
concerned, and thereafter 
are charged to the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure.

Intangible assets held for 
sale are reclassified to ‘non-
current assets held for sale’ 
measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount or ‘fair value 
less cost to sell’.

Amortisation

Intangible assets are 
amortised to their estimated 
residual value over their 
remaining useful economic 
lives in a manner that 
is consistent with the 
consumption of economic or 
service delivery benefits.

Amortisation is charged on 
a straight-line basis to the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure on each of 
the main class of intangible 
assets as follows:

Computer 
software – 
internally 
developed

5 years

Computer 
software – 
licences 

3 years or life 
of licence if 
less

Held for sale Not 
amortised

1.5  Sale of property, 
plant and equipment, 
intangible assets and 
non-current assets held 
for sale
Disposal of non-current 
assets is accounted for as 
a reduction to the value of 
assets equal to the net book 
value of the assets disposed. 
When set against any sales 
proceeds, the resulting gain 
or loss on disposal will be 
recorded in the statement 
of comprehensive net 
expenditure. Non-current 
assets held for sale will 
include assets transferred 
from other categories and will 
reflect any resultant changes 
in valuation.
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1.6  Impairment of  
non-financial assets
Assets that are subject to 
depreciation and amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount 
may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised 
for the amount by which 
the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable 
amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. 
Where an asset is not held 
for the purpose of generating 
cash flows, value in use is 
assumed to equal the cost of 
replacing the service potential 
provided by the asset, unless 
there has been a reduction 
in service potential. For 
the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are 
grouped at the lowest levels 

for which there are separately 
identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffer 
an impairment are reviewed 
for possible reversal of the 
impairment. Impairment 
losses charged to the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure are deducted 
from future operating costs 
to the extent that they are 
identified as being reversed in 
subsequent revaluations.

1.7  Leasing
Operating leases

All agency leases are 
regarded as operating leases 
and the rentals are charged 
to expenditure on a straight-
line basis over the term of 
the lease. Operating lease 
incentives received are added 
to the lease rentals and 
charged to expenditure over 
the life of the lease.

1.8 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits

Salaries, wages and 
employment-related 
payments are recognised in 
the year in which the service 
is received from employees. 
The cost of annual leave 
and flexible working time 
entitlement earned but not 
taken by employees at the 
end of the year is recognised 
in the financial statements to 
the extent that employees are 
permitted to carry-forward 
leave into the following year.

Pension costs

Present and past employees 
are covered by the provisions 
of the Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (PCSPS) 
which is a defined benefit 
scheme and is unfunded and 
non-contributory. The Agency 
recognises the expected cost 
of providing pensions for their 
employees on a systematic 
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and rational basis over the 
period during which they 
benefit from their services 
by payment to the PCSPS of 
amounts calculated on an 
accruing basis. (Relevant 
disclosures are reported 
in Note 2.) Liability for the 
payment of future benefits is a 
charge to the PCSPS. 

In respect of the defined 
contribution schemes, the 
Agency recognises the 
contributions payable for the 
year.

1.9 Financial instruments
Cash requirements for 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
are met through the Scottish 
Government and therefore 
Financial Instruments play a 
more limited role in creating 
and managing risk than would 
apply within a non-public 
sector body. The majority of 
financial instruments relate 
to Receivables and Payables 
incurred through the normal 
operational activities of 
the agency. The Agency is 

therefore exposed to little 
credit, liquidity or market risk.

Financial assets

The Agency classifies its 
financial assets in the 
following categories; at 
fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, 
and available for sale. The 
classification depends 
on the purpose for which 
the financial assets were 
acquired. Management 
determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial 
recognition.

Financial Assets held by the 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
have been classified as 
loans and receivables or 
cash. Loans and receivables 
comprise trade and other 
receivables.

Loans and other receivables 
are measured at amortised 
cost, using the effective 
interest method, less provision 
for impairment.

Financial liabilities

The Agency classifies its 
financial liabilities in the 
following categories: at 
fair value through profit or 
loss, and other financial 
liabilities. The classification 
depends on the purpose for 
which the financial liabilities 
were issued. Management 
determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at 
initial recognition.

Financial liabilities of the 
Agency consist of Trade 
and other Payables and are 
recognised initially at fair 
value and subsequently 
measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest 
method.

1.10 Inventories 
The Agency does not hold 
inventories of any kind. 
The cost of stationery and 
publications is charged 
as an expense within the 
statement of comprehensive 
net expenditure in the year 
in which the expenditure is 
incurred.
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1.11 Related party 
transactions 
Material related party 
transactions are disclosed in 
line with the requirements of 
IAS 24.

1.12 Provisions 
The Agency provides for legal 
or constructive obligations 
that are of uncertain timing or 
amount at the balance sheet 
date on the basis of the best 
estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the 
obligation. Where the effect 
of the time value of money is 
significant, the estimated cash 
flows are discounted using the 
discount rate prescribed by 
HM Treasury.

1.13 Value Added Tax 
Most of the chargeable 
activities undertaken by 
the Agency are outside the 
scope of VAT. Where output 
tax is charged or input VAT 
is recoverable, the amounts 
are stated net of VAT. 
Irrecoverable VAT is charged 
to the relevant expenditure 

category or included in the 
capitalised purchase cost of 
fixed assets. 

1.14 Segmental reporting
The Agency reports internally 
by cost centre, these reports 
are regularly reviewed by the 
Chief Executive and the Board 
in order to allocate resources 
and assess performance. 
For the Annual Report 
and Accounts, Accountant 
in Bankruptcy reports on 
one single core segment, 
incorporating all cost centres, 
which represents the Agency’s 
principle objective of the 
administration and monitoring 
of bankruptcy in Scotland. 

1.15 Cash and cash 
equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents 
includes cash in hand, 
deposits held at call with 
banks and any other short-
term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities 
of three months or less 
and bank overdrafts. Any 
bank overdrafts are shown 

within borrowings in current 
liabilities on the balance 
sheet.

1.16 Third party assets
Assets belonging to third 
parties (such as consignation 
and sequestration funds) 
are not recognised in the 
accounts since the Agency 
has no beneficial interest 
in them. However, they are 
disclosed in a separate note 
to the accounts in accordance 
with the requirements of the 
FReM.
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2 Staff numbers and costs
2.1 Staff numbers
The average number of whole time equivalent persons employed (including senior management) 
was as follows:

Branch
Senior 
Management

Other 
Permanent 
Staff

Contingent 
Workers and 
Fixed Term 
Appointments

Staff On 
Inward 
Secondment

Total 
Number

2011-12

Total 
Number 

2010-11

Case 
Operations

1 81.8 2 - 84.8 96.8

Chief 
Executive 
Office

1 2 - - 3 3

Corporate 
Services

3 40.6 2.3 - 45.9 45

Policy and 
Compliance

2.3 15.4 0.3 0.7 18.7 13.8

Total 7.3 139.8 4.6 0.7 152.4 158.6

2011-12 2010-11

Average number of disabled employees employed in year 7 6

2011-12 2010-11

Average annualised sick days for full time equivalent staff 9.6 days 9.9 days

Permanent staff members are all Civil Servants employed by the Scottish Government. Positive 
policies are in place in relation to disabled employees. Special facilities are provided where 
necessary. Every effort is made to comply with equal opportunities legislation.
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2.2 Payroll costs
The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Wages & Salaries 3,473 3,283
Social Security Costs 234 215
Other Pension Costs 611 547
Inward Secondments 13 18
Contingent/Fixed Term Appointment 77 156

4,408 4,219

Reporting of Civil Service and other compensation schemes – exit packages

2011-12 2010-11
Exit package  

cost band 
£’000

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures 

agreed
‹ 10 - 1 - 1

10-25 - - - 2
25-50 - - - 2

50-100 - 1 - -
Total number - 2 - 5
Total resource 
cost  (£’000)

 
-

 
67

 
-

 
120

Redundancy and other departure costs have been paid in accordance with the provisions of the 
Civil Service Compensation Scheme, a statutory scheme made under the Superannuation Act 
1972. Exit costs are accounted for in full in the year of departure. Where the Agency has agreed 
early retirements, the additional costs are met in full by the Agency and not by the Civil Service 
pension scheme. Ill health retirement costs are met by the pension scheme and are not included 
in the table.
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2.3 Pensions

The Principal Civil Service 
Pension Scheme (PCSPS) is 
an unfunded multi-employer 
defined benefit scheme but 
Accountant in Bankruptcy is 
unable to identify its share 
of the underlying assets 
and liabilities. The scheme 
actuary valued the scheme 
as at 31 March 2007. You can 
find details in the resource 
accounts of the Cabinet Office: 
Civil Superannuation (www.
civilservice-pensions.gov.uk).

For 2011-12, employers’ 
contributions of £608k were 
payable to the PCSPS (2010-11 
£544k) at one of four rates in 
the range 16.7% to 24.3% of 
pensionable pay, based on 
salary bands. The Scheme 
Actuary reviews employer 
contributions usually every 
four years following a full 
scheme valuation. The 
contribution rates are set to 
meet the cost of the benefits 
accruing during 2011-12 to be 
paid when the member retires 
and not the benefits paid 
during this period to existing 
pensioners.

Employees can opt to open a 
partnership pension account, 
a stakeholder pension with 
an employer contribution. 
Employers’ contributions 
of £3k were paid to one or 
more of the panel of three 
appointed stakeholder 
pension providers. Employer 
contributions are age-related 
and range from 3% to 12.5% 
of pensionable pay. Employers 
also match employee 
contributions up to 3% of 
pensionable pay. 

Contributions due to the 
partnership pension providers 
at the balance sheet date were 
£Nil. Contributions prepaid at 
that date were £Nil.

2.4 Remuneration and 
pension benefits

Board remuneration and 
pension benefits are contained 
within the Annual Report.

Further details about Civil 
Service pension arrangements 
can be found at the website: 
www.civilservice-pensions.
gov.uk

http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
http://www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
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3. Expenditure analysis
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000
(a) Other Operating Costs

Travel & Subsistence 41 45
Accommodation* 549 635
General Administration 1,285 1,295

1,875 1,975

2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000
(b) Sequestration Expenses

Agents Administration Fees 3,851 3,534
Sequestration Outlays 477 578
Edinburgh Gazette - 204
Legal Fees 903 769

5,231 5,085

2011-12 2010-11
£’000 £’000

(c) Non Cash Transactions
Depreciation 489 446
Auditor’s Fees 43 45

532 491

* Included in Accommodation is lease expenditure of £370k for the 2011-12 rental of Accountant 
in Bankruptcy’s Kilwinning Office.
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4. Operating income
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Creditor Petition Fee 637 813

Repayment to Public Purse 3,295 4,189

Debtor Application Fees 953 912

Trustee Supervision Fee 1,802 1,672

Consignations 202 153

Statutory Fees 2,310 2,184

Search Fees 33 39

Debt Arrangement Register Search Fees 4 23

Debt Arrangement Application Income 39 -
9,275 9,985
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5. Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold 
Improvements

Furniture, 
Fittings, 

Equipment
IT  

Equipment Total

Cost or Valuat ion £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2011 1,004 112 149 1,265

Revaluation 38 - - 38

Adjustment* - - 10 10

At 31 March 2012 1,042 112 159 1,313

Depreciation

At 1 April 2011 459 49 112 620

Provided During Year 102 21 43 166

Backlog Depreciation 20 - - 20

Adjustment* - - (7) (7)

At 31 March 2012 581 70 148 799

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2012 461 42 11 514

At 1 April 2011 545 63 37 645
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Leasehold 
Improvements

Furniture, 
Fittings, 

Equipment
IT  

Equipment Total

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2010 952 133 481 1,566

Revaluation 52 - - 52

Additions - - 15 15

Disposals - (21) (347) (368)

At 31 March 2011 1,004 112 149 1,265

Depreciation

At 1 April 2010 339 47 471 857

Provided During Year 97 23 (12) 108

Backlog Depreciation 23 - - 23

Disposals - (21) (347) (368)

At 31 March 2011 459 49 112 620

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2011 545 63 37 645

At 1 April 2010 613 86 10 709

*  The adjustment to Property, Plant and Equipment in 2011-12 is in respect of an asset written 
off in a prior year when the asset is still in use.
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6. Intangible assets

Software 
Licenses

Development 
Expenditure

IT Software  
and  

Development Websites Total
Cost or V aluation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2011 64 87 1,218 - 1,369
Additions - - 243 18 261
Disposals* - - (121) - (121)
Transfers - (87) 87 - -

At 31 March 2012 64 - 1,427 18 1,509

Amortisation

At 1 April 2011 36 - 693 - 729
Provided During Year 20 - 303 - 323
Disposals* - - (121) - (121)

At 31 March 2012 56 - 875 - 931

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2012 8 - 552 18 578

At 1 April 2011 28 87 525 - 640
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Software 
Licenses

Development 
Expenditure

IT Software 
and 

Development Total

Cost or Valuation £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 April 2010 440 - 1,099 1,539

Additions 9 87 119 215

Disposals (385) - - (385)

Transfers - - - -

At 31 March 2011 64 87 1,218 1,369

Amortisation

At 1 April 2010 351 - 424 775

Provided During Year 70 - 269 339

Disposals (385) - - (385)

At 31 March 2011 36 - 693 729

Net Book Value

At 31 March 2011 28 87 525 640

At 1 April 2010 89 - 675 764

* The intangible asset disposal in 2011-12 was the correction of an omission in the prior year. The 
net effect of this correction on the accounts for 2011-12 is £nil and for 2010-11 was £nil.
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7. Receivables
Amounts falling due within 1 year

2011-12 2010-11
£’000 £’000

(a) Analysis by Type
Accrued Income 345 289

Prepayments 111 355

Trade Receivables 612 430

Other Receivables 31 40
1,099 1,114

(b) Intra Government Balances
Balances with Other Central Government Bodies 8 6

Balances with Local Authorities 23 34

Balances with NHS Bodies - -

Balances with Public Corporations and Trading Funds - -

Total Intra Gove rnment Balances 31 40

Balances with Bodies External to Government 1,068 1,074
1,099 1,114

8. Cash and cash equivalents
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

 
Balance at 1 April 1,189 968

Net Change in Cash Balance (193) 221

Balance at 31 March 996 1,189

As all payments and receipts are effected through SEAS, apart from accounts used as the means 
for clearing inward payments, no other separate bank accounts are currently held by the Agency 
other than those held on behalf of third parties as detailed in Note 14.
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9. Payables
Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

2011-12 2010-11
£’000 £’000

Analysis by Type
Employee Benefits Accrual 136 160

Other Accruals 1,534 1,625

Deferred Income 38 46

Trade Payables 5 4

Other Payables 23 30
1,736 1,865

Intra Government Balances

Balances with Other Central Government Bodies 23 20

Balances with Local Authorities - -

Balances with NHS Bodies - -

Balances with Public Corporations and Trading Funds - -

Subtotal: Intra Government Balances 23 20

Balances with Bodies External to Government 1,713 1,845
1,736 1,865

Amounts Falling Due Within One Year

2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Deferred Rent 227 244

227 244
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10. Movements in working capital other than cash
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

(Increase)/Decrease in Receivables 15 (79)

Increase/(Decrease) in Payables (139) (406)

Increase/(Decrease) in Provisions - 25
(124) (460)

11. Financial instruments
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Financial Assets
Trade Receivables (Note 7) 613 430

Accrued Income (Note 7) 345 289

Other Receivables (Note 7) 31 40

Cash and Cash Equivalents (Note 8) 996 1,189
1,985 1,948

2011-12 2010-11
£’000 £’000

Financial Liabilities
Other Accruals (Note 9) 1,534 1,625

Trade Payables (Note 9) 5 4

Other Payables (Note 9) 23 30
1,562 1,659

Non-close Embedded Derivatives £nil £nil

Derivative Financial Instruments £nil £nil
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12. Provisions for liabilities and charges
2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Balance at 1 April 25 -

Provided - 25

Balance at 31 March 25 25

Payable within 1 year 11 -

Payable over 1 year 14 25

Provisions were made in the course of 2010-11 in respect of funding requirements for staff exit 
schemes. See Note 2 for further information. 

13. Commitments under operating leases
The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are:

2011-12 2010-11
£’000 £’000

Land and Buildings:
Payable not later than 1 year 370 369

Payable later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 1,550 1,919

Payable later than 5 years 1,506 1,506
3,426 3,794
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14. Third party assets
Assets held at balance sheet date to which monetary value can be assigned:

2011-12 2010-11

£’000 £’000

Sequestration Bank Balances 20,123 17,287

Third Party Funds in Transit* 306 196

Unclaimed Dividends and Unapplied Balances 20,392 21,026

Total Monetary Assets 40,821 38,509

These funds are held on behalf of third parties within interest bearing accounts. This mainly 
comprises of realised assets awaiting repayment to the public purse and distribution to creditors; 
also money consigned in respect of unclaimed dividends and unapplied balances. These funds 
are mainly held within Royal Bank of Scotland accounts.

* Third party funds in transit, are funds which at the year end had been received but not yet 
allocated to a sequestration account or an account for unclaimed dividends and unapplied 
balances. This figure was an omission in the prior year.



87

Annual Report and Accounts 2011-12

Other assets held at the balance sheet date:

2011-12 2011-12 2011-12 2010-11

No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets No. of assets
 

In-house
Agent/ 

Provider
 

Total
 

Total

Residential Property 217 2,800 3,017 1,839

Life Policies 346 911 1,257 1,215

Motor Vehicles 79 595 674 330

Shares and Other Investments 24 318 342 227

Miscellaneous 68 433 501 365

734 5,057 5,791 3,976
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15. Financial/Capital 
commitments
The Agency has entered 
into contracts (which are 
not leases or PFI contracts) 
for the maintenance of IT 
equipment. Under the revised 
definition by the Scottish 
Government of Financial 
Commitments, effective as 
from 1 April 2008, contracts in 
the normal course of business 
do not require disclosure. 
No contracted capital 
commitments existed as at  
31 March (2010-11 – £nil). 

16. Contingent 
liabilities
The Agency has contingent 
liabilities in respect of 
uninsured losses of the assets 
contained within the estates 
that are in sequestration.

In accordance with the 
Scottish Public Finance 
Manual (SPFM) there is no 
requirement to either disclose 
or quantify this contingent 
liability.

17. Losses 
statement
Fees charged to sequestration 
estates not able to be 
recovered amounted to £4.5m 
(2010-11 – £7.7m), this is 
considered a ‘constructive 
loss’ in line with the Scottish 
Public Finance Manual’s 
definition. There were no 
individual cases with a 
constructive loss over £250k 
(2010-11 – nil). There were a 
total of 8,425 cases (2010-11 – 
12,911 cases) which incurred 
some level of constructive 
loss.

18. Related party 
transactions
Accountant in Bankruptcy is 
an Executive Agency of the 
Scottish Government. During 
the year the Agency had 
various material transactions 
with the Scottish Government.

During the year Accountant  
in Bankruptcy entered into 
material transactions with 
Money Advice Scotland, 
providing £50k (2010-11 – £nil) 
in funding to deliver training 
and second tier support for 

the debt advice sector. The 
Chief Executive of Money 
Advice Scotland is Yvonne 
MacDermid who, since  
17 February 2011, has also 
been a Non-Executive Board 
Member of the Accountant  
in Bankruptcy. 

19. Payments to 
suppliers
The Agency complies with 
the Confederation of British 
Industry prompt payment 
code and is committed to 
the prompt payment of 
bills for goods and services 
received. Payments are 
normally made as specified 
in the contract. If there is no 
contractual provision or other 
understanding, they are due 
to be made within 30 days of 
the receipt of the goods and 
services, or the presentation 
of a valid invoice or similar 
demand, whichever is later. 
In 2011-12 the percentage 
of invoices paid on time was 
99.8% (2010-11 – 98.8%).

In line with Scottish 
Government direction, 
Accountant in Bankruptcy 
will look to pay all suppliers 
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within 10 days. In 2011-12 this 
was achieved 98% of the time 
(2010-11 – 97%). 

20. Post balance 
sheet events
There were no significant post 
balance sheet events.

21. Audit
Under the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) 
Act 2000, the Auditor General 
for Scotland is responsible 
for appointing the external 
auditors of the Agency.  
For the years 2011-12 to 
2015-16 Audit Scotland has 
been appointed to carry out 
the Agency audit and the 
notional fee for this service in 
2011-12 was £43k (2010-11 
– £45k), which relates solely 
to the provision of statutory 
audit services. No payments 
were made to Audit Scotland 
other than in respect of the 
statutory audit.
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Direction by the Scottish Ministers

in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000

1. The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2006 and subsequent years 
shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure requirements of the edition of the 
Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) which is in force for the year for which the 
statement of accounts are prepared.

2. The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the income and 
expenditure, recognised gains and losses, and cash flows for the financial year, and of the state 
of affairs as at the end of the financial year.

3. This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of accounts. The direction 
given on 28 March 2003 is hereby revoked. 

 

Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers
Dated 17 January 2006

Direction by the Scottish Ministers



How to contact us
Accountant in Bankruptcy
1 Pennyburn Road
Kilwinning
Ayrshire
KA13 6SA
LP-4 KILWINNING

Telephone 0300 200 2600
Fax 0300 200 2601

Website: www.aib.gov.uk for advice on the administration of the sequestration process in Scotland
SG/2012/151
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Aby otrzymać niniejszy dokument w innej wersji językowej, na kasecie
lub w wersji z powiększonym drukiem, prosimy o kontakt: 0300 200 2600
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0300 200 2600
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